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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

At the invitation of the Northern Virginia Planning District Commission, nominees from
four jurisdictions and other concerned organizations participated in the Northern Virginia
Boundary Stones Committee which held fifteen meetings and two field surveys between
March 17, 1994, and August 28, 1995. The Committee

- accepted the property-law dictum that the boundary stones belong to whoever owns the
land on which they are located;

- acquired ground-survey plats of all boundary stones (except for South Cornerstone which
is owned by the National Park Service);

- requested assistance from the District of Columbia Bicentennial Boundary Commission
and the National Geodetic Survey to complete a resurvey of all stones to learn their accurate
position in space;

- agreed that the Virginia Department of Historic Resources is the preferable grantee and
holder of easement deeds, recommends that attorneys for the local jurisdictions consult
with each other on appropriate language for public owner easements, and recommends that
the jurisdictions work with VDHR to acquire voluntary signatures from private stone
owners;

- conducted a field survey of the current status of the boundary stones, and found that
eleven are accessible, ten are original, eight have a correct position and orientation, but only
three are considered in good shape with completely readable inscriptions;

- prepared a Site Recommendation Summary (attachment 1) which it recommends be
supplemented by current-condition site repc#ts with photos for all sides to be prepared by a
conservator as baseline data for the granting of easements and for future maintenance;

- prepared Site Maintenance Guidelines (attachment 2) emphasizing that only the least
intrusive preservation techniques be utilized,;

- recommends that no stone be moved or reoriented except for the resetting of SW9 to
alleviate settlement, but that consideration be given to appropriate conservator repair and/or
movement of SW6;

- recommends acceptance of site stewardship and maintenance assignments by Alexandria
(for SW1, SW2, SW3, and SWS5), Arlington (for SW6, SW7, and NW1), Fairfax (for
SW8, NW2, and NW3), Falls Church (for SW9 and WC), VDOT (for SW4), and NPS
(for SC); and further recommends that each jurisdiction identify a lead entity to monitor and
maintain the assigned stones;

- recommends that the local jurisdictions work with the Daughters of the American
Revolution to refurbish or replace the DAR protective fences insofar as possible (see fence
priorities in attachment 1), and suggests adding bollards to SW2, SW3, SW6 (if not
moved), and SWS;

- recommends development of greater public understanding and appreciation of all of the
boundary stones and their history through a brochure, selected signs, a highway marker at
SW3, and a traveling educational exhibit;



- recommends that the Committee work with the NPS, DAR, District of Columbia and
Maryland officials to seek National Historic Landmark status for all existing boundary
stones; and

- recommends that the Committee continue under NVPDC auspices to meet annually and
review the implementation of their current recommendations, to make any new necessary
recommendations, and to ensure coordination of the preservation and protection for the
boundary stones and their fences.

BACKGROUND AND OPERATIONS OF THE
NORTHERN VIRGINIA BOUNDARY STONES COMMITTEE
(NOVABOSTCO)

In 1976, the National Capital Planning Commission prepared a 46-page report on the
"Boundary Markers of the Nation's Capital”, and included a status report on the stones
(attachment 3) and ten recommendations for their preservation and protection (attachment 4);
unfortunately, no progress was made on their implementation. Recently it seemed timely to
review their recommendations and to actually implement them insofar as possible for the 14
markers along the southwest (SW) and northwest (NW) lines of stones in northern Virginia
(see cover map). It should be noted that also in 1976, marker SW9 was placed on the
National Register of Historic Places; in 1980, this stone was denoted as a National Historic
Landmark to honor Benjamin Banneker, and the South Cornerstone (SC) was added to the
National Register. By 1991, Barbara Hynak and her colleagues in the Daughters of the
American Revolution (DAR) were instrumental in adding all the other 12 markers to the
Virginia Landmarks Register and subsequently to the National Register of Historic Places
(attachment 5 presents data extracted from NRHP forms and two pertinent reference lists).

The Falls Church Historical Commission (attachment 6) on September 17, 1993, outlined a
brief history of the markers and petitioned the Falls Church City Council to suggest the
creation of a NOVABOSTCO under the auspices of the Northern Virginia Planning District
Commission (NVPDC). The City Council on November 8, 1993, requested NVPDC to
consider this proposal. The Commission on December 9, 1993 unanimously voted to do so,
and on February 8, 1994, invited the four concerned jurisdictions and other interested
organizations, such as the DAR and local historical societies, to forward appropriate
participant nominations by March 11. The first meeting was held March 17, 1994. Since
then, fourteen other meetings and two field surveys have been held, and membership has
remained essentially constant (see page 10 at end of report) with staff support from NVPDC
(Doug Pickford) and the Northern Virginia Regional Park Authority (Charles Smith), and
with occasional guidance from outside consultants (see page 10). Ric Terman and Karl
VanNewkirk (since 4/95) have served as Chairman; Pickford, Terman, and Phyllis
Wolfteich (since 4/95) have acted as Secretary; Smith has been the principal key compiler of
site data and with Jean Federico has authored the site maintenance guidelines.

This report summarizes the Committee findings and recommendations. The initial objectives
were to update the 1976 NCPC recommendations by establishing three subcommittees to
deal respectively with jurisdictional, site, and promotional issues. Over time these issues
became subdivided and more detailed, and are covered here in the following ten categories:

Ownership Preservation

Survey Plats Restoration Options

GPS Survey Stewardship and Maintenance
Easements Protection

Current Status Public Promotion



PAST ACTIVITIES OF THE NOVABOSTCO

1. Legal Status/Ownership of the Virginia Boundary Stones

The boundary milestones were placed in northern Virginia during 1791 at the direct order of
the President to delimit a federal territory established by an Act of Congress in fulfillment of
Section 8 of Article 1 of the Constitution. They appear to be the first federal monuments
created by the United States. In 1846 the federal district west and south of the Potomac
River was retroceded to the state of Virginia. However, in spite of such an impressive
background for the markers, an informal legal opinion dated March 16, 1994, by consultant
Peter H. Maier, the Falls Church City Attorney, states that in the absence of any identifiable
statute specifying ownership, the general rule of property law would consider the stones as
fixtures on the land and thus "the stones belong to whoever owns the property on which
they are located", including both private and public owners (attachment 7).

2. Ground Survey Plats of the Virgina Boundary Stones

The Committee placed paramount importance on developing information on the land
ownership at each stone site. Committee member Burt Sours, the Fairfax County Surveyor,
after obtaining approval from appropriate county officials, undertook to perform the
requisite field work and prepare a ground survey plat for the stones on private property. In
November 1994, Mr. Sours presented to the Committee plats for the following stones:
SW3, SW7, SW8, NW2, and NW3 (attachment 8); NWI1 was not surveyed at that time
because an easement exists. The Committee subsequently agreed that plat maps for all
stones, except SC which belongs to the National Park Service (NPS), were needed, and
such maps for public properties (attachment 9) are now available.

3. Global Positioning System (GPS) Resurvey of All Boundary Stones

Committee member Alan Dragoo, Maryland Society of Surveyors, has been cooperating for
some time with his Virginia colleagues under the District of Columbia Bicentennial
Boundary Committee to finish the field work for a GPS resurvey of 37 of the 40 original
boundary stones; they are completing the basic "Blue Book" data on the stones. On June 2,
1994, NVPDC, acting on behalf of NOVABOSTCO, requested technical assistance
(attachment 10) from the National Geodetic Survey (NGS) to adjust the combined classical
and GPS data and incorporate the information into its Integrated Data Base. NGS has agreed
and is expected to complete this work during the second half of 1995, and thus permit a full
understanding of the interrelationship in space of all boundary stones.

4. Historic Preservation Easements for the Virginia Boundary Stones

In May 1994, at the invitation of Barbara Hynak, easement lawyer Virginia McConnell of
the Virginia Department of Historic Resources (VDHR) attended a Committee meeting. She
stated that in 1991 the Board of Historic Resources voted unanimously to accept historic
preservation easements on the stones, and she confirmed continuing VDHR interest in
working with NOVABOSTCO. After much discussion of options, including NVRPA,
DAR, or individual jurisdictions, the Committee agreed that VDHR is the preferable grantee
and holder of easements for the stones. VDHR subsequently provided a draft of the
proposed easement deed (attachment 11). In January 1995, a VDHR letter (attachment 12)
indicated that the Sours plat surveys were entirely adequate as attachments to the deeds,
suggested that the Committee initially contact all private and public owners and work to seek
their concurrence to the deeds, possibly with some subsequent VDHR support, and in
conclusion agreed to join together with NOVABOSTCO and the easement grantors in a
public ceremony to celebrate the signing of the deeds.



The Committee must now confirm that all jurisdictions and Virginia Department of
Transportation (VDOT) will participate as grantors. The Falls Church City and Arlington
County attorneys have suggested changes to the wording of the easements so that they are
more appropriate for a public entity to sign. Thus, the Committee recommends that these
changes be circulated to seek concurrence from the other jurisdictions on an agreed-upon
draft of public easements to submit to VDHR for review.

The Committee also recommends that the appropriate jurisdictional personnel (see paragraph
8) should approach the individual private grantors to obtain their voluntary signatures.

5. Current Status of the Virginia Boundary Stones

On July 20, 1994, a NOVABOSTCO field team visited 13 of the marker sites (all except
NW3) and compiled status notes for each site (attachment 13). In February 1995, a tabular
status report was prepared to summarize their findings (see attachment 14). Some of the
principal conclusions are as follows:

a) Ten stones are believed to be those originally placed in 1791: SC was replaced in
1794; the stump of SW4 may be part of an original stone, but the stump of SW5 may not
be; and SW2 is not an original stone.

b) Eight stones appear to be in their original position and orientation, but the other
six (SW1, SW2, SW4, SW5, SW6, and SW8) have all been moved; in the 1890s, NW3
was discovered broken and then believed reassembled in its original position.

c¢) Five stones are completely on private property and one is partly on private
property, four are in jurisdictional right-of-ways (ROW), one in VDOT ROW, two in multi-
jurisdictional public parks, and one is owned by the NPS.

d) Eleven stones are generally accessible, and two on private property have limited
access, and SC is very difficult to view.

e) Only three stones (SW1, SW9, and NW3) are rated in good shape, nine are in fair
to poor condition, and two (SW4 and SWS5) are only stumps.

f) Only three stones (SW1, SW9, and NW3) have completely or nearly completely
visible inscriptions, eight stones exhibit some or few words, and three (SW2, SW4, and
SW5) show none; the final status report needs to show the original and missing inscriptions
(attachment 15).

Numerous photos of the Virginia stones have been taken, beginning with a few in the
1890s, some by Fred Woodward published in 1907 and 1908 and by NCPC in 1976
(attachment 16), 43 by Barbara Hynak to accompany the DAR 1990 nominations for 12
stones to the National Register of Historic Places, and more than 200 by the field team.
However, none of the stones have been fully documented as strongly advocated by NPS
consultant Nick Veloz.

From all of the Committee deliberations, Charles Smith has prepared a Site
Recommendation Summary (attachment 1) which the Committee recommends be
supplemented by current-condition reports with complete photo documentation of all sides
of each stone to be prepared by a professional conservator as baseline data for the VDHR
easements and future jurisdiction maintenance; one estimate received by the Committee
indicated such reports would cost about $80 per stone.



6. Preservation of the Virginia Boundary Stones

In June 1994, at the invitation of Ric Terman, geologist Elaine McGee of the U.S.
Geological Survey (USGS) attended a Committee meeting and discussed her experiences
with stone preservation and characteristics of the Aquia Creek sandstone. This gray to buff
rock from which the boundary stones are cut is made up of small grains of quartz, feldspar,
and clay with a silica cement (see attachment 17, USGS 1974 report). Ms. McGee was a
member of the NOVABOSTCO field team in July and reviewed her observations with the
Committee in September; she also summarized them in USGS Open File Report 94-592
entitled "Federal District Boundary Markers in Northern Virginia: Condition and
Preservation Issues" (attachment 18). The markers are obviously comprised of strong, good
quality rock; weathering and human interference has created some rounded edges, missing
pieces, and pits or pock marks; cracks occur in a few stones but are not severe. Surficial
features of the stones include dark crusts, patches of organic growth, some paint drips and
occasional bird droppings. Overall they are in fairly good condition considering that they-
have received minimal attention for more than two centuries; the changes through time differ
from stone to stone and actually constitute part of the historic significance of each stone.

Ms. McGee also provided the Committee with a copy of the DOI 1980 "Standards for
Rehabilitation" (attachment 19), and Phyllis Wolfteich collected documents from the NPS
Preservation Assistance Division (attachment 20). NPS consultant Nick Veloz attended the
March 1995 meeting and further endorsed minimal stone preservation techniques, such as
gentle cleaning with water only, or possibly with mild non-ionic detergent after testing on
small areas of the stumps at SW4 or SW5. Chemical consolidation by a surface coating does
not appear necessary, although it was reportedly carried out on some stones by Arlington
County in the 1950s. Conditions such as dampness or erosion that cause deterioration
should be eliminated insofar as possible. In all cases, regular monitoring of the markers is a
key to continued preservation. The Committee has prepared guidelines for future inspection
and maintenance of the stones outlining appropriate techniques (attachment 2).

7. Restoration Options for Virginia Boundary Stones

The Committee meeting in April 1995 was attended by historic preservationists John
Salmon, VDHR, and Bruce Krivisky, Director of Fairfax County'Heritage Resources
Branch, to offer advice and counsel on restoration options while maintaining the historic
integrity of the markers. Both consultants stressed the need for the Committee to clearly
focus on its goals and priorities, particularly in relation to preservation, protection, access,
and repositioning; whatever the selected goals, minimal restoration was suggested. After
extensive discussion, the Committee consensus focussed on preservation and protection as
paramount, and recommends that no stone be moved or reoriented, except for the resetting
of SW9 to alleviate settlement and possible conservator repair and/or movement of SW6 to
prevent further damage.

8. Stewardship and Maintenance of the Virginia Boundary Stones

No systematic maintenance of the stones is known to have ever taken place. Through time,
six stones (SW1, SW2, SW4, SW5, SW6, and SW8) have been subject to some significant
prior dislocation; SW2 was never recovered and a substitute was provided. SW6 required
additional emergency care following a vehicular accident in 1989. Thus, the Committee
recommends regular monitoring of both fence and stone at marker sites, preferably in
conjunction with continued but enhanced DAR stewardship, and that any needed physical
maintenance be carried out by designated jurisdictions, with VDHR agreement if
appropriate, as follows: Alexandria City for SW1, SW2, SW3, and SW5; Arlington
County for SW6, SW7, and NW1; Fairfax County for SW8, NW2, and NW3; Falls
Church City for SW9 and WC; VDOT for SW4, and the NPS for SC. The Committee



further recommends that each jurisdiction identify a lead entity to be responsible for the
monitoring and maintenance of their assigned boundary stones.

9. Protection of the Virginia Boundary Stones

Beginning in July 1915, the DAR erected fences around all of the existing boundary stones.
These were generally about three feet square and five feet high and the corner posts were to
be set in concrete. These fences undoubtedly have assisted in the protection of the stones
and in their public recognition. During the July 1994 survey, the NOVABOSTCO field team
found that only a few of these fences were in good condition, and the others were in fair or
poor shape; SC is in a concrete enclosure. Consultants from Hercules Iron Works and Long
Fence Co. visited some fences, offered general advice at the meeting of February 1995,
endorsed the proposed standard fence design (attachment 21), and, for a single fence, have
estimated costs for complete renovation at $2500 and for replacement at $2200 (attachment
22). In May 1995, a second survey team evaluated with an industry expert the status of each
fence and identified the individual problems. From such contractor findings, the Committee
has prepared a priority list for future actions by each jurisdiction (attachment 1). The
Cemmittee recommends that the jurisdictions work with the DAR to refurbish or replace the
fences as necessary, and also suggests that additional protection be afforded the fences by
adding new bollards or wheel stops at SW2, SW3, SW6 (in its current location), and SW8.

10. Public Promotion of the Virginia Boundary Stones

Committee member Karl VanNewkirk has conducted annual tours in recent years of the
Virginia boundary stones for the Arlington Historial Society, and he has taken the lead in
NOVABOSTCO to examine other promotional opportunities. He reported to the Committee
in November 1994 that it is unlikely that the Jones Point Lighthouse will evolve into a
museum for the stones. Furthermore, the Committee does not endorse the 1976 NCPC
proposal to move an original marker to the Smithsonian Institution for permanent
preservation. However, as funds become available, the Committee recommends the
preparation of an information brochure on the stones (attachment 23), historical signs at
selected sites (attachment 24), an historical highway marker at SW3, and of the development
of a traveling educational exhibit. The Committee further recommends that it work with
others to seek National Historic Landmark status for all of the existing boundary markers.

RECOMMENDED FUTURE ACTIVITIES OF THE NOVABOSTCO

Similar to the National Capital Planning Commission report of 1976, this document makes a
number of recommendations. But with hope and optimism, this Committee further
recommends that NOVABOSTCO will continue to function under the auspices of NVPDC,
and will meet annually to review the implementation of its recommendations, to make any
new recommendations deemed essential, and to ensure the best possible coordination for the
future preservation and protection of the boundary marker sites.

The Committee obviously has made significant contributions (for a more detailed review of
deliberations, see minutes for all meetings, available at NVPDC), but the recommendations
in this report not yet implemented are as follows:

- prepare current condition reports for each stone;

- reach a consensus on wording for public-owner easements and acquire jurisdiction
approval;

- acquire private-owner easement approval;



- seek jurisdiction concurrence on stone assignments, and have each identify a lead entity to
monitor and maintain the marker sites;

- encourage appropriate jurisdictions to reset SW9, to repair SW6,.and to work with the
DAR on the fences as needed;

- work on public promotion of the stones, particularly a traveling exhibit; and
- work with others to seek National Historic Landmark status for all existing stones.

The Committee members will maintain contact with their parent organizations to benefit
from any comments on this report or any further advice and counsel that might be offered.
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NOVABOSTCO Site Recomendation Summary

Attachment |

» Contractor's
’ Fence
Stone Maintenance
Position, Recommendat] Special Site
Associated | Recommende Orientation, Store Stone Stone Fence Dimensions ions and Conditions &
Owner DAR d Steward/ & Recommen| Dimensions | Condition & Maintenance (in inches), Age, Fence Committee's | Recommenda
Stone | (Public/Private) | Location | Chapter Caretaker Access dation (in inches) Inscriptions | Recommedations | Color & Plague Condition Priorities tions
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Pub.hc. Lighthouse. Good site access: inscription options (see Special Site Dimensions of Enclosure (no losed 1n wall with barrier (wall) along sea
National Park George stone access very basically non- Conditions). Photo-Document ffence): 62 (high). 30 (deep)  |concrete slab on top and] wall: alsv recommend
South Service (Contact Washington difficult: no Position: ornginal Height From existant Slune‘ gd Develop Current  Jand 60 (long) gate on nver side . removing concrele slab
C " C Howland. 285- |Memorial Nali | Park Ornienlation: correct G o L Condition Report: Obtain Age: 1926 (enclosure dimensions: from above stone and
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Alexandria. and hard 1o Height From inscription in good |Photo-Document Stone and  |Age: ? (not original maybe  fsome rust with flaking new exiension pieces
VA (public . ; . JPosiion. 350 feet long Ground: 19 , ible Develop Current Condition  |1950's) of paint. *Une of posts Jon: dip. prime and
Soiiti t |publi voad p ht of City of approach. May wisly Urientation: ncorrect - iy g shapg Aleg‘b Report: Obtain Color: White Plague: 4jand several pickets repaint: set in new
outhwes ; ic ) oad rnght o 1y o ) 10 obtam easement |Recommendation: Do Sides: 11.25 and |Inscription: all Access Maintenance x 8 (inches). 1916 Mount heavily corroded near  jfooters
#1 (SWI |City of Alexandria |way) Mount Vernon|Alexandria from City in future JNot Move 11.5 words present JEasement: Monitor * Vemon Chapter DAR ground Priority: 8°*
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Road Good: stone in Protect with bollards: Dimensi i
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|
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*Monitor Stones for Signs of Wear, Weathering or Physical Damage. Refer to NOVABOSTCO Final

Report for Maintenance Guidelines. **Priorities established without regard to jurisdiction.



NOVABOSTCO Site Recomendation Summary

= Contractor's
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Associated | Recommende Orientation, Stane Stone Stone Fence Dimensions ions and | Conditions &
Owner DAR d Steward/ & Recommen| Dimensions | Condition & Maintenance (in inches), Age, Fence Committee's | Recommenda
Stone | (Public/Private) | Location | Chapter Caretaker Access dation (in inches) Inscriptions | Recommedations | Color & Plaque Condition Priorities tions
- Recomunendation
remove loose paint witl
; wire brush. prime and
aad: Fna" wish Dimensions: 58 (high). 36 and paint: wire brush
1o obtain Lxcavale Lo expose any 37 (sides) playue and paint with
South Walter easement from Height From ladditional sione: Photo- I.-\g-e: probn.bl_\' 1950's aer_\'li’c Iacqu;rt'., placcr
R Drive " Position: not vnginal . Document Stone and Develop JColor: White gravel around base o
\ eed. . . Clt_\ of L. Onentation: ncorrect G,mund 4 Current Condition Report: Plagyue: 4 x 8 (inches). Excellent: fence fence to keep
Southwest |Public: (public road |Anna Maria  [City of Alexandria in Recommendauon: Do Sides: 13 and Obtain Access’Maintenance  |reproduction DAR plaque probably from 1950's. jvegetation down
#5 (SW5) |Citv of Alexandria Jright of way)|Fitzhugh Alcxandria future Not Move 18 5 Stump only Easement: Alonitor * (1952) has third rail Prioritv: 12%*
Fair to Poor: stone - ) o PE———
xplore moving stone wi c 01 3
has bc?" . county right of way . remove: cul off old Commitiee
Position: moved during consolidated with  |Conservator recc d Di 63 (high). 37 and posts near bonomi - jrecommends
S. Jefferson Good: mav wish |aparunent building cement reconsolidation: Photo- 37 (sides) Fair: has Uurdrail - fweld new extension placement of
; construction P Document Stone and Develop JAge: probably 1950's or 60's |same sivie and agz as  |pieces on: dip. prime bollards if stone
s Sueel' ; e onn Orentation: ncorrect He,ghl From lnscnpuon. i Current Condition Report: (maybe 1965) fence on SW'5: has been jand repaint: set in new e
Southwest |Public: {public road |Fairfax easement from  fp o danon Do JOround: 25 words and letters  |opiain Access Maintenance  |Color: Blue repaired (decent weld): [footers remains in .
#6 (SW6) |Arlington County right of wav) |County Arlington County |County in future |Not Move Sides: 12 and 12 |iegible Easement: Monitor * |Plaque: odd sized loose - no footers Prioritv: 4°* current location.
Nenmore Middle
School. 200
Carlyn Springs
Public and Private: |Road. Arlington.
Arlington County ;.i‘:)gzszm and :i-d;dor'\ynﬂl- hand
orged fence: extensive
(School Board. 358- Manchester St. Good: recommend damage probably irom
6015) and Falls Church. obuain access Poor: large chunk falling tree limb: vne
Woodlake Tower VA 22044 (half maintenance easement . N Herght F.om missing from south IPholO-DoL?umenl §|me and IDMiom: 65 (high). 46 and jpost rtuntng | lRemnuncnd replace
Condominium |from private parcel Position: onginal - 23 ne Develop Current Condition |48 (sides) Vi poor \ cnce as per
i o jowner. may wish (o Orientation: cofrect G,r?und & corngr qr Sb Report: Obtain Age: 1916 anchored and being NOVABOSTCO
Southwest |Association (931- Fairfax obtain easement from  |Recommendauon Do Sides: 1 and Inscription: a few Access/ Maintenance Color: Green held together with hose |specification
#7 (SWT) ]2900) County Arlingion County |Arlineton Co in future |Not Move 1.5 words legible Easements: Monitor * JPlaque: none clamp a1 one comer  fPriority: 1%¢
May wish lo install
jwheel stop Lo prevent
2921 future automobile
McKinley impacts: stone is
Road Falls unwwes:\lf oriented -
may wish to move
gzt::::h VA Good X Place wheel stop and bollard several feet away from
: Position: moved Poor. stone poorly a1 edge of parking lot 10 - parking lot and orient
(next to recommend Urienation: incorrect | Hei ght From set and base protect stone and fence: Photo{Dimensions: 48 (high). 36 and Recommend replace  fcorrectly to prevent
i . i 3 |(rotaied approximately | . = : . Document Stone and Develop |36 (sides) fence as per future automobile
Private: |parking lot _ obtain access/ |, degrees) (_;.round. ,24'3 parually exposed L Condition Repori:  |Age: 1950 Bad: 1950 tence WNOVABOSTCU impaus since fence
Southwest |Patrick chr-‘. in apartment | Dr. Elisha maintenance Recommendation. Do Sides: 1 and Inscription: a few Obtain Access:Maintenance |Color: Green badly bent from |specification needs o be replaced
#8 (SW8) |Apartments. Ltd complex) Dick Fairfax County  |easement Not Move 13.5 words legible Easement: Monitor * Plague: 6 x § (inches) automobile impacts  |Priority; 2%* anywa\

*Monitor Stones for Signs of Wear, Weathering or Physical Damage. Refer to NOVABOSTCO Final

Report for Maintenance Guidelines. **Priorities established without regard to jurisdiction.




NOVABOSTCO Site Recomendation Summary

= Contractor's
] Fence
Stone Maintenance
Position, Recommendat] Special Site
Associated | Recommende Orientation, Stone Stone Stone Fence Dimensions ions and Conditions &
Owner DAR d Steward/ & Recommen| Dimensions | Condition & Maintenance (in inches), Age, Fence Committee's | Recommenda
Stone | (Public/Private) | Location | Chapter Caretaker Access dation (in inches) Inscriptions | Recommedations | Color & Plaque Condition Priorities tions
JRecommendation: If
not oniginal then
replace: "would be a
hall to repair” -
aboul $3.000: remove.
. [Position: ongmal (but ) Poor: Alay be original Jdip. pnme. paint. put ong
_ . Good: may wish |sinking in place) Good: stone intact - Dimensions: 62 (high). 36 andor later reprod a
Public: Four Mile . Lo obtain Unentation; correc! with all inscription [Raise stone and place 16 (sides) lot of bad pickel bends: J(repair-replace pickets
Falls Church City Run Park easement from Recommendation Height From legible: stone gravel concrete footer Age: original (1916) or early Jone missing pichet: one iand rails) set in new
; ’ L e 5 Raise and reset in place y SR undemeath: Photo-Document freproduction botiom rail severel\ footers (24" 10 36" -
Southwest fand Arlington (Van Buren ) Jurisdictions in -}y same position and qround' 12 sinking and Stone and Develop Current  |Color: Brown damaged and poorly  |independent of stone
#9 (SW9) |County Street) Falls Church |Falls Church Citv Jfuture urieniation Sides: 11 and 11 |partially buried Condition Report: Monitor * |Plaque. 12 x 8 (inches) welded: welds poor footer). Prioritv: 6**
p 2
Existing
Maintenance Recommend: replace
Agreement ::8: :sBp;;TCO
identifies Good: may wish Poor. large chunk specification; if retain
Public: West Arlington - to obtain N - Height From nissing Photo-Document Stone and | Dimensions. 62 (high). 88 and tence then place
West Arlington and Cornerstone Recommend easement from Z‘:‘“”“’, o giuat Ground: 24 Inscripuon. a few :fe""” (';‘:‘“' Condition 1102 ":‘;‘;‘; :’”"d hew kancis '“'bl ?ddi'i"“:' P°:'s' pour
! i ; LI s ; entation: correct y ) . eport: Obtain Age: ()] ooters - not very stable; jfooters. brush. prime
Comerston |Fairfax Counugs and Park (N. change lo_Falls jurisdicuons in  |peommendauon: Do [Sides: 12.5 and  |words and some |\ ese Mamtenance Golor: Brown verv unusual size and fand paint
e (WO) Falls Church Cin Arizona St.) |Falls Church |Church City future Not Move 13 letters legible Easement: Monitor * fPiaque: ? design Priority: 11%*
3607
Powhatan endati
S Fair: Original fence. in [Recomm ion:
treel. )
Arli Fair: mav wish 1o ) ) . footers but loose. ene  fremove: cut off old
] rimgton. replace existing Fair: sile subject 10]Shore up and re-inter base on |Dimensions: 69 (high). 37 and|post rusied away at base§posts near bottom -
Private: VA 22213 |VA - Freedom easement 1o ensure that erosion and part of Jsw side: Photo-Document 37 (sides) (repaired with angle  weld new extension
Dorothv R. Hall (single Hill: DC - it allows for proper Position: original Height From base exposed Stone and Develop Current  JAge: 1916 iron). another pos! pieces on: dip. prime
e H ] access mantenance  fOrientation: correct [ ) - = Condition Report. Replace  JColor: Green rusted through. good  Jand repaint: set in new
Northwest (Fa"fax Owner Not faquly Richard rights by holder and Recommendation: Do Ground: 24.6..5 Inscripuon: some Access/Maintenance Plaque: 4 x 8 (inches). originalishape otherwise with  Jfooters
#1 (NW 1) |Known) residence) |Amold Arlington County |designee Not Move Sides: 11 and 11 jwords legible Lasement: Monitor * DAR rust | Priority: S¢
5145 N, 38th
St.
Private: Arlington. Poor: park n private
Charles B. Warden |VA 22207 drive and cross side and _ N Height From Fair: stone intact  |Photo-Document Stone and | Dimensions: 58 (high). 36 and
(Trust)(538-716Y).  |(single :;’:';:I’::sr:”""’: ’ :::10:"5‘"“'“ Ground: 23.2¢  |but site moist ::"‘:"’OL;:_‘“' Condition 2("1?6)9
: : : recomm : corre; Bl =1 eport: in e:
Northwest |(Fairfax Owner Not fan.ul_\ Thomas . bt b dccess Recommendation: Do |Sides: 11 and  |Inscription: some r Ncorss/Muimenance Color: Blue
#2 (NW2) |Known) residence) |Nelson Fairfax Count\ Imainienance easement §Not Move 11.5 words legible Easement: Monitor * Plague: 6 x 9 (inches) JEir: Priority: 9%*
4013 N
Tazewell St. Position: oniginal
. Fairfax. VA Poor: must cross front. |idiscovered broken and
Private: 22101 side and back vard reassembled in original Photo-Document Stone and | Dimensions: ? (high). ? and ?
Carrol E. and Susan (single (lh!:egale' ofprivalcd position in 189U's) Height From Good Develop Current Condition  j(sides)
: i residence: recommend |Urientation: cosrect , e ] Report: Obtain Age: ?
Notthwiest 35, Burtricr 216- fan.ul_\ Arlington : |oblain acvess Recommendation: Do |Ground: ” Inscription. most |, ... Maintenance _ [Color: Black
#3 (NW3) 14460) residence)  |House Fairfax County  Jmainienance easement |Not Move Sides: ? words legible Easement: Monitor * Plaque: ? Fair to Good? Priority: 10*

l
{

]

*Monitor Stones for Signs of Wear, Weathering or Physical Damage. Refer to NOVABOSTCO Final

Report for Maintenance Guidelines **Priorities established without regard to jurisdiction.




Alwacilieni o

Site Maintenance and Preservation Guidelines
for the

Northern Virginia Boundary Stones

The Northern Virginia Planning District Commussion (NVPDC or the Commussion) established
the Northern Virginia Boundary Stones Commuttee (NOVABOSTCO or the Commuttee) in early
1994 to review the condition of the Northern Virginia Boundary Stones (boundary stones or
stones), originally erected in 1791, designating the boundaries of the new District of Columbia.
This Committee reviewed these conditions and made a number of recommendations which are
included in the report to the Commission. Local junisdictions have also received that report.

The most significant recommendations of the Committee deal with the maintenance and long-term
preservation of these boundary stones. Listed below are the Guidelines recommended by the
Committee. These have been prepared to assist local junisdictions and those tasked with the care
and maintenance of the individual stones. These are (as designated in the NOVABOSTCO final
report): Alexandria (for SW1, SW2, SW3 and SW5), Arlington (for SW6, SW7 and NW1),
Fairfax (for SW8, NW2 and NW?3), Falls Church (for SW9 and WC), the Virginia Department of
Transportation (for SW4) and the National Park Service (for SC). Each jurisdiction is expected
to have a lead department or agency with oversight for their boundary stones. Questions should
be directed to the NVPDC.

These guidelines consist of definitions of commonly used terms, as well as specific sections
dealing with short-term and long-term maintenance concerns. Before attempting any maintenance
or preservation, each responsible jurisdiction must insure that the following actions occur:

| Preparation of a regular cyclical maintenance schedule for routine care.

2. Preparation of a long term preservation plan to include photo documentation,

Consideration of effects of any actions on the long-term preservation of the stones:;

L2

4 Removal of the cause of a problem. not just the symptom.

N

Use of only the gentlest. least invasive. methods of care in order to avoid negative impacts
to the stones.

6 Consultation with well informed protessionals on a regular basis in order to emplov onlv
the most current acceptable preservation techniques.

7 Adoption of methods to share intormation with other junsdictions.

1



Maintenance

The term maintenance here 1s intended to encompass both preservation and maintenance,
since maintenance actions are intended to preserve the condition of the boundary stones and their
fences and plaques (associated structures). Maintenance must be considered in terms of long-
term measures and short-term measures. Short-term measures are those to be done on an annual
basis and are generally inexpensive. Long-term measures are those required to preserve the
boundary stones and associated structures in perpetuity and can be very expensive.

Short-Term Maintenance Measures

These activities need to take place on at least an annual basis and they need to be
incorporated within other, regularly scheduled, maintenance activities.

a) Annual Site Inspection/Assessment. Conduct an annual inspection of each Stone
site to assess conditions and conduct basic maintenance. Inspections must be consistent in
the manner in which each site is assessed and the information that is recorded.

Attachment 3 is a copy of the form used by the Committee in its June 1994 inspection and
is recommended for use by the jurisdictions. Inspection information must be retained
permanently. This will assist in monitoring the stones and developing short-term and
long-term maintenance plans.

b) Clean Out Enclosures: Remove trash and vegetation by hand or with simple tools
(like rakes or trowels).

c) Clean Stones: Cleaning of stones should be done only with the gentlest means
possible (see Specific Maintenance Techniques below) and only as necessary to prevent
deterioration of the Stones. Use water and a non-ionic detergent (Orvus). This product is
available from archival supply catalogues. Call Office of Historic Alexandria (703) 838-
4554

d) Brush, Prime and Paint Fences: The iron fences can be preserved by keeping the
paint in good repair to prevent oxidation. Fences must be periodically brushed, primed
and painted (see Specific Maintenance Techniques below)

e) Clean and Lacquer Plaques. Plaques may need to be pertodically cleaned and
coated to preserve them (see Specific Maintenance Techniques below)

f) Add or Replace Gravel Around Stones: The gravel is attractive. keeping
vegetative growth to a minimum. reducing the amount of moisture directly around the.
Stones (helping to prevent growth of organic material and possibly slow the effects of
spalling [see Attachment 19 to NOVABOSTCO final report, page 3. "Weathering"] (see
Specific Maintenance Techniques below).




g) Shore Up Stones and Fences Against Erosion: Some stone sites are subject to soil

erosion. Soil erosion may contribute to the deterioration of stones or fences by exposing
below-ground portions to the above-ground effects of wind and water. Shoring up the
site to prevent erosion may prevent additional deterioration of the stones and fences

h) Respond to Inquiries, Requests and Emergency Calls: Publicize the telephone

number for the department or agency having responsibility for the boundary stones.

Long-term Maintenance Measures

Long-term measures are intended to be carried out over the life of the boundary stones.
Anv measures not included in these guidelines should be addressed to the Committee before
action is taken. Long-term measures could be expenstve and may include:

a) Photodocumentation: This process must be done according to an established
standard which is well documented and reproducible. A professional photographer should
be commissioned. preferably a photographer with experience in producing archival quality
records of historic structures. This person's services may be expensive. This
documentation of all sides of all stones is critical for establishing baseline data and a long-
term maintenance plan. This documentation is an important first step. After the initial set
of photographs is commissioned and completed, photodocumentation should be repeated
at a regular interval to document change in the stones and their associated structures over
time. This interval should be set forth in the long-term maintenance plan and may be every
five to ten years. A record copy and the negatives should be retained by each jurisdiction
in archival/permanent storage.

b) Conservator Consultant. Jurisdictions may wish to engage a professional
conservator with experience in stone and iron preservation to assess the stones. The
conservator would assess each stone. document existing conditions, provide treatment
options and make recommendations as to possible courses of action. The conservator's
recommendations may assist in formulating short-term and long-term maintenance plans.
The conservator may also conduct photodocumentation

c) Fence Renovation: Iron fences surrounding the stones vary in age from as much as
eighty vears to as little as five vears Many of these fences are in need of renovation

Long Fence company provided an estimate for a basic renovation (see NOVABOSTCO
final report. Attachment 23) which begins at approximately $2.500.00 and involves
temporary removal of the fence It should be noted that the cost for this renovation
method is more than the estimated replacement cost for a fence. A fence should always be
renovated rather than replaced whenever possible since the fences themselves are historic.

d) Fence Repiacement. Some ot the fences surrounding the stones are in very poor
condition  Two in particular (Southwest 7 and Southwest 8) are potentially dangerous.
These fences should be replaced. Replacement fences should closely resemble the original
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1916 fences and may be built to the specification provided with these guidelines (see
NOVABOSTCO final report. Attachment 22). Long Fence company estimated that it
would cost approximately $2.200.00 (see NOVABOSTCO final report. Attachment 23) to
replace a fence with this specification

The following measures should be done in consultation with all other jurisdictions and the
Committee:

e) Stone Reconsolidation: Reconsolidation is the process of putting the broken or
separated pieces of stones back together. Reconsolidation involves using a mortar or
some adhesive compound to "cement" the pieces of the stone back together. If done
incorrectly, reconsolidation may cause extensive damage to the pieces of the stone.
Reconsolidation should be done only by a professional with experience in stone

preservation.
9] Stone Reorientation or Relocation: Some of the stones have been moved over

time. SWO is the only stone that the Commuttee has recommended for movement of any
kind (see NOVABOSTCO Site Recommendation Summary). However, jurisdictions may
need to move or reorient a stone to put it back in alignment with the other stones. The
moving of a stone should be conducted with the utmost care. The process should include
as a minimum: proper measures to safeguard the stone, supervision by a surveyor to
properly place and orient the stone. and preparation of the new site to receive the stone
and its enclosure. When a relocated or reoriented stone is finally set in place, it must be
set at the proper height (approximately 36" below ground and 24" above ground) as well
as the proper alignment and orientation.

Specific Maintenance Techniques

It is critical that jurisdictions update their information on stone maintenance techniques on
a regular basis. Maintenance may be broken down into five areas: |) stone protection during
maintenance. 2) stone maintenance. 3) fence maintenance. 4) plaque maintenance. and 5) site
maintenance.

l) Stone Protection During Maintenance: When conducting any maintenance on site. it is
critical to protect the stones. The protection method used should enclose the stone to prevent
damage from impact of tools and/or debris and the deposit ot paint and other substances on the
stone surface The simplest way to protect a stone from damage during restoration or
maintenance work is probably to place a large. plastic trash can upside down over the stone.

2) Stone Maintenance: Stone maintenance should be done with the utmost care and
consideration Maintenance should be done in accordance with an established maintenance plan
Short-term stone maintenance may involve cieaning or stabilizing a stone. However. if a stone
should be damaged or experience rapid. unexpected deterioration. it mav be necessary to take
more extreme and expensive measures to protect it All stone preservation measures should be




conducted with the most recent information available and under the guidance ot a professional
conservator and/or person with expertise in sandstone preservation. Stone maintenance may

include:

3)

a) Cleaning: "Clean" is a relative term. The stones are not new and will never be so
again. Cleaning should be done only as necessary with the goal of removing organic
matter. crusts, paint drops or other materials which may cause damage to a stone or
threaten its integrity. Cleaning should be done with a non-ionic liquid to dissolve
compounds. This liquid should be applied with a soft toothbrush or sponge and rubbed
gently to remove the offending substance. The surtace should then be rinsed with the non-
ionic liquid.

b) Filling-in Depressions: Several stones have depressions on their flat, top surface
which collect water and contribute to detenoration. These depressions should be filled 1n
so that water will run off and not collect. This work must be conducted by qualified stone
workers. The Commuttee recommends the use of a matenal such as "Jahn" under the
supervision of a professional conservator.

c) Reconsolidation: If a stone is broken or separates into pieces. it may become
necessary to reconsolidate the stone. Use extreme caution when considerning
reconsolidation. The only Virginia stone which has been reconsolidated to date is
Southwest 6. It was cemented together with hard mortar (possibly Portland cement)
which is not adhering to the stone and is a cause for concern. The composition of the
material used to cement stone pieces back together must be as close as possible to that of
the parent material. A cement which is too hard or too soft or of the wrong texture may
cause extensive damage to the remaining pieces of a stone. Do not attempt any
reconsolidation without a professional stone conservator. Call NVPDC for information.
Contact other jurisdictions.

Fence Maintenance: The fences surrounding the boundary stones have helped protect the

stones over time and are themselves (in the majority) historic in nature. These fences are in need
of regular maintenance. Maintenance will generally involve painting, but may involve extensive
repair or replacement.

a) Painting. Before painting a fence, cover the stone with a plastic trash can. Use a
wire brush to remove all loose paint from the metal. Prime the fence with a rust inhibitor
(this will bond with the corroded metal and prevent further deterioration). Then paint the
tence with a high quality, outdoor. black enamel paint designed for painting over metals
(iron)

b) Restoration. Fences with heavily corroded corner posts, bent uprights. broken
welds or other structural problems need to be restored bv a contractor experienced in
working with iron. Generally, fences in need of restoration will have to be temporarily
removed and taken to a shop facility. Removal involves cutting a fence off near the
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ground: transporting it; dipping it in a tank with solvents to remove old paint and
corrosion, repairing welds, bent uprights and other structural problems: welding on new.
1" square extensions on the bottom end of the corner posts: priming and painting the
fence: drilling the old. corroded corner posts out of the ground; setting new footers for the
fence (24" to 36" deep); and replacing the fence (see NOVABOSTCO final report.
Attachment 23). Fence restoration can be expected to begin at $2.500 00 (estimates
prepared April 1995).

Temporary protection measures must be provided for stones during the fence restoration
process. This will invoive protection during work on site (an upside-down plastic trash
can) and a temporary barricade while the fence is absent.

c) Replacement: Some fences may be damaged/deteniorated beyond repair. In
addition, it may be less expensive to replace a fence than repair it. With few exceptions.
the fences are historic in nature and should be restored rather than replaced. Attachment 2
is a replacement specification for boundary stone fences which conforms to the dimensions
and materials of the 1916 fences. Removing an old fence and manufacturing and installing
a new fence to this specification would cost about $2.200. 00 (see NOVABOSTCO final
report, Attachment 23). It is also recommended that a third horizontal rail be added to the
fence design (midway between the existing two rails) to add strength and rigidity and
prevent bending of the half inch, round verticals.

4) Plaque Maintenance: Before doing any plaque maintenance, it is important to first
determine the material out of which the plaque is made. Many plaques, including the 1916
plagues, are bronze and generally in good condition. However. they may need to be cleaned in
the future. Jurisdictions should consult with a conservator (with experience in their plaques’
specific materials) on how to best preserve a plaque. Special caution should be used when
considering preservation and maintenance options for the 1916 plaques.

Some of the plaques are not constructed out of bronze. A good example is the
reproduction plaque at Southwest 5 This plaque may be cleaned with a wire brush to remove any
deposits and then painted with a clear. acrylic lacquer.

5) Site Maintenance: There are many site conditions which may promote the decay of Stones
and their enclosures. Jurisdictions and caretaking agencies should closely monitor sites for
negative signs and trends. Site maintenance measures may include:

a) Removing Vegetation: Plant roots or clinging parts may damage stone or iron. In
addition, vegetation keeps the soil more moist by accumulating organic material. Remove
vegetation by hand (since chemical treatments may have negative effects). The Stone
should first be covered with a plastic trash can to avoid damage from tools. Vegetation
should be removed bv cutting and pulling above ground growth. Roots should then be
removed using a hand trowel Do not disturb the stone
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b) Drainage and Site Cileaning. All impediments to drainage from a site should be
removed. Impediments may include vegetation. large stones or sticks. or accumulated
debris such as trash or organic matter which prevent water flow Regardless of drainage
issues, trash and debris should be removed from the sites on a regular basis.

c) Erosion Control: Several sites demonstrate the negative effects of erosion.
Erosion can undermine and expose the foundations of stones and fences and promote
weathering. Erosion can be prevented with the use of timbers, stones and/or vegetation
When installing erosion control measures, it is important not to prevent drainage, but
rather to lessen the steepness of slopes and slow surface water flow 1n order to prevent
soil from being moved off site. All erosion control measures should be attractive in nature
and designed in consultation with the property owner.

On sites with existing erosion there will generally not be a problem with excess moisture,
so vegetation can be effectively employed to stabilize soils outside of the enclosure. When
using vegetation. be caretul not to plant too close to the enclosure. Do not plant
vegetation which will obscure the view of a stone and its enclosure.

Timbers or stones are another method of erosion control. Stone or timber structures may
be placed perpendicular or diagonal to the direction of water flow down a slope. The
stones or timbers should be entrenched at their base and secured with wooden or metal
stakes as necessarv. It is often most effective to place retaining or water diversion
structures almost flush with the ground. It is important to address the erosion problem-
down an entire slope, as erosion control structures can individually increase slope
steepness and themselves be undermined by future erosion.

Erosion control and water diversion structures must also be considered for the area up-
slope of the stone site. Water diversion may be the most important measure taken when
there is an up-slope erosion problem.

d) Gravel: Gravel can be placed within the fences and around the bases of the stones.
Gravel can discourage vegetative growth and improve the overall site drainage. A plastic
trash can should be placed over the stone before introducing any gravel Vegetation
should be removed and any necessarv measures taken to prevent erosion Gravel should
then be added to the entire area within the enclosure to a depth of two to four inches and
compacted with a tamping bar Use Virginia Department of Transportation grade 21-A
gravel

Attachment: NOVABOSTCO Field Observation Form



ATTACHMENT
Nothern Virginia Boundary Marker Field Observation Form

Marker #/Name: Marker Location:
Observer Name/Agency: Date:
Recorder Name/Agency: Weather:

Photographs Taken: Yes/No If Yes, Photographer Name/Agency:

General Site Conditions
What is the closest public thoroughfare to the marker?
Is the marker visible from this thoroughfare?
Is the marker legally accessible from this thoroughfare? (if known)
Is the marker located on public or private property?
What is the property currently used for?
[s the marker present?
Is the marker original? (if known)
If not original, of what material is the marker constructed? (if known)
Is the marker coated?

If yes, with what is it coated? (the texture at least if material/brand name not known)

Specific Site Conditions

1. Marker Condition: (see sketch) Marker Condition Sketch
a. Top: X

b. Four Vertical Faces: »

c. Inscriptions (show on sketch): 4




ATTACHMENT
Marker Field Form
page 2

2. Condition of Fence:

3 Condition of Plaque:

4. Site Conditions:
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NW.2

NW.3

NORTHERN VIRGINIA BOUNDARY STONES

(NCPC 1976 DATA)

SUMMARY OF BOUNDARY STONE LOCATIONS, OWNERSHIP AND CONDITION

OWNERSHIP **

Frvate

Pubiic

Public

Public

Pubilic

Prvate

Public

Public

Private

Private

Pr.vate

CONDITION

Pour
Goud
Broken off 10

the Ground

Broken off near
the Ground

Fauw

Poor

Fair/Poor

Good

Poor

Badly Chipped

Fair/Poor

‘Cooa/Fai.r

* Indicates special need for immediate atiention.

Yes No
Yey Yes
No Yes
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No
Yes Yes
Yes No
Yes Yes
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No
Yes No(?)

CURRENT D A R*STEWARDSHIP RISPONSIBILIS (S

Oronal Resoonsibilin:

D.C. DAR

M Vernon Chapter, va
Mi Vernon Chapies, va
Amencan Libzmy Chaprer, p¢

* Conanent:! Chapier, ve
Kevstone Chaoter | oc

raziax Co., Va. Chapic:
Fafax Co., V' Chapier

Unmarkec

Falls Church Chaprer ,ve

Viuzinia DAR
Richard &

noic Chazte: , Ov
Oi¢ Dominion, Va. Crzois:

Sarah St Claiz, Va2, Craoisr

[RSTIrE

Date ol

Dedication of Fences
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Apri 30,1926

Junz 25, 1957
Novermber 5, 182}
June 15,1916

“May 1€, 19)6

Novembe: 1, 161€

LOCATION

Encased 1. Scawall beiorr front cour v Julicy
Faint Luchtnouse dscxancrie, b i

5. Pavie aid WHNEL Stay; Alesangmia. Vo

Eas: side of Russell Ruad near Rung Street
Alcaandria, Va.

Parkinge lot. Fizst Bapuist Churor of As-zanariz,
2932 King Strecl, Alexanc: .o, Va

Wakelicid and King Streets, Alexandria, Va.

100 (cet cast of Route 7 on walter Keed Drive,
Arhinglon, Va

On median of Jellerson Street, 300 fzct south
of Columbna Pike, Arhington, Va.

30 fcet east of path lcading 1o ath ~*:c hield
from Cariyn Spriny; Road and t1ds Street,
Arlinglon, Va.

On cdye of parking area, 100 feet [rom water
tower behind apartment building uy John
Marshall and Wilson Boulevare, Arhington,
Va.

In park at }8th and Van Buren Strects
Falls Church, Va.

West side of Meridian Street, 200 feer south of
West Street, Falls Church, Va.

Back yard of 3607 Powaton Strect, Fairfax
Cow Vo

Side yard of 5298 Old Dominion Drive,
Fairfax, Va.

Back vard of 40!3 Tazwell Street, Fairfax,
Va,

The ownership column in Lhis ehart refess 10 ownership of the land upon which each stone sits.

Changes in
Responsibiin

M:. Vernon Chapter, VA

Lol Tohu Wleatlaghin PC
Qur Pt:_‘) (_lna.rﬂ’tr- ocC

Dr. Elish2 Dick Cnaz., Va.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

All boundar\ stones should be in the ownership
of the U.S. Government. There appears to be some
confusion as 1o the ownership of the boundary
markers. Some are now on pnvately owned land.
In Virginia the problem is further compounded by
the Retrocession Act of 1846. Thereiore, Congress
should adopt legislation that provides for acquisi-
ton of the land and casements required 1o provide
for the protection and mainterance of these
historic markers, Tne amount of land required
would have 1o be determined on an individual basis
for each of the stones. Also the siung and location
of each stone requires an individual assessment as
to the lands needed to properly protect them and
easements required to assure access for mainte-
nance and public viewing. The amount of land
acquired at each of the ¢/ rner stones should be
such as 10 create “Cornerstone Parks.”

!The boundary stones should be placed on the
National Register of Historic Places. Curvently the
boundary markers are designated as Category Il
Landmarks by the Joint Committee on Landmarks
of the National Capital. Because the markers are
locaied in three different jurisdictions, a nomina-
tion form should be prepared jointly by the State
Historic Preservation Offices in Md., Va., and D.C.
and forwarded to the Department of Interior.

‘An appropriate land managing agency or agencies
should be given specific responsibility for the pre-
servation and maintenance of the boundary stones

and fences. An "Office of the Keeper of the Bound-
ary Stones™ should be created. In::ially this office

wnule be responsible for determining the amount
of iand needed as suggested in the first recom-
mencation 2nd would prepare the landscape
plans for these lands.  The imporance of
creaung this officc is 10 provide a control
point regarding the boundary stones. Man
lenance now occurs on 2 “catch 25 catch can”
basis, and specific responsibility for the condiuion
of these historic markers is difficult 10 identify.

A “Cornerstone Park™ should be created at each
of the four cornerstone markers. The comner stones
should be on larger land plots thar the mile stones,
Land set aside in these Jocations shoulc be suffi.
cient to create a “Cornersione Park™ similar 10 the
West Stonc Park. It may be desirable to place at
the site of the South Comnerstone, as Maj.L'Enfant
suggested to President Washinglon, “a majestic
column or a grand pvramid ... (10) produce the
happiest effect and completely finish the iang-
scape.”

Crcatc a "Boundary Stonc Muscum.” The light-
house at Jones® Foint could be converted inta such
4 musenm, bhecause this is the site of the South

Corneratone which was the Nlirst stone putan place
during the survey . Sceondiv, tng Tichthonse s one

of few remarning on the Potomuac, and s restora
uon lor muscim purposes wouald  presenc an
tmportant huildmg tvpe that nieht not otherwse
NURSIYEH

For historical integrity all houndary markers
that have been moved should be placed in their
original focation. If tus 1s not possibile, o plague
should be placed at the stone site statmg its ongin.
al Jocation 1.e.,"This stone has been relocated 1650
vards southeast of its ongimal suce.”

One of the mile markers should be acquired by
the Smithsonian In<ttuuon for permanent preser.
vation. Because of orienioration of the mile stones
due 1o weathering (tne sandstone used does not
weather well in the Washington chimate). it s
sugrested that the best of the remaining mile
marhers, probably Southcast No. €, should be
given to the Smithsonian Institution for permanent
preservation and displav. This is a relucant recom-
menaation. However, unless at leasi-onc stone is
permanceriy preserved [future generations may
never seec an “‘onginal” boundary marker. This
stone would be replaced in the manner sugg=sted in
the following recommendation.

Each of the missing. badly decav~d siones or
broken stumps should be replaced. * number of
the miic markers :re either missing or have been
badly mutilated by weather, vandalism. ctc. It is
recommended tha: these siones be replaced by
duplicates with appropriate inscriptions. Sandstonge
used in the origina! markers came from a quarmy i
Agquia, Va. The DAF [ences should be restored and
missing DAR plagues renlaced. Anv of the stone
{razments removec shoulc be carcfully caialogued
and placed in the Boundary Stone Museum as
suggested in recommendation five.

All of the stones should be treated witn &
protective coating. All of the existing or replaced
boundan stones should be treated with a protec-
tive coating that does not change the color or
character of the stone. A number of chemical
finishes exist that can be applied 10 stone 10 make
it virtwally weatherproofl. However, some experi-
mentation will probably be necessary 1o determine
the proper product, method of appiication and
protective nature of the material.

The DAR's rolc in the siewardship of these
monuments should be continued. Fach of thes DAR
Cnapters responsiLie for one or more of the
boundary markers should continuc in its steward.
ship function. Each Chapter shouid inspect the
stone site annually and prepare a repon thereon
which would be transmitted 1o the “Reeper of the
Stones" for his files and to inform him of
conditions that require attention.

8 ALt UiCie =
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In approximately 1904, it was dug up and carried to the edge of
the field, about 225 feet from its proper location; in 1906 it was
found lying on the ground. At some point later, it was placed
upright and rotated from its correct positioning. The letters are
smaller than those of the other stones and are in a different
script. The speculation is that a different ston% carver carved

this stone than carved all the rest of the stones.

In both the surveys done in 1894-97' and 1906, the original stone
could not be found. It was apparently placed on the east side of
and very close to the Alexandria and Leesburg turnpike, on the

in 1906,

eastern slope of Shuter's Hill, in a subdivision known,
as Spring Park, and within a stone's throw of Fort Ellsworth, built

by federal forces in May 1861. When the inquiry was made in 190§,
there were a number of workmen carting away loam and gravel for new
roads. The road foreman said a strange condition was known to
exist there, called 'creeping down hill', a movement of the surface
of the earth, which may have had something to do with the loss of
the stone. In 1921, the annual report of Mount Vernon Chapter to
the Virginia Daughters of the American §evolution stated that the
stone was relocated and fenced in 1920. It is believed that the
relocated stone was not the original stone but was the replica that
stands within the fence today. Due to its size, shape and total
lack of inscriptions, the stone is obviously not the original. The
stone was indicated on a 1927 aerial survey map located in the
archives of the George Washington Masonic Memorial. Another source
indicates that the marker was there in 1929.% Although not
original, this stone has marked the area of the second mile stone

for approximately seventy years.

This marker was the first marker placed at other than equal miles
from the other markers. The end of the mile would have ended in
a ravine, so it was placed on higher ground, less than three miles
from the South Cornerstone. The inscription was listed as 2 miles
302p, which means it was placed 2 miles and 302 poles or rods from

the South Cornerstone. (281" snerk)

In the early surveys of 1894-1897' and 1906, the entire top of this
It had what appeared

stone was missing, and remains missing today.
it was located with the help a

to be plow marks on it. In 1906,
farmer who said, "By gum, I've run the plow into that stone times

enough to know where it is."‘ It was in the immediate vicinity of
three federal forts marking the line of the defenses of the
District of Columbia in the Civil War. Later, it was almost buried

when Route 7 was regraded.

In the early surveys of 1894-97' and 19062, the entire top of this
stone was missing, and remains missing today3 It was moved
approximately 44.90' from its original location.
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equal miles from tne Soutn Cornerstone. IT was markea - Mi.es 3ux
Poles, which means it was placed 5 miles and 304 poles or rods from
the South Cornerstone.

Its wrought iron fence, placed in 1916, was %Fne by 1949, when the
stone sat on the edge of a large gravel pit.

Threatened by construction of roads and apartments, the stone was
removed and stored by Arlington County for three years. It was then
placed in the middle of a median strip on South Jefferson Street,

It

this being the closest public land next to its original site.
was given a new iron fence and rededicated in its new location in

June 1965.°

In December 1989 this stone was hit and broken; its fence was also
broken. In response to calls from members of the Virginia
Daughters of the American Revolution, Arlington County personnel
picked up the stone so that it would not be further broken or lost.
The stone sat on an Arlington County truck for a month, until the
weather warmed up enough to repair the stone and fence. Arlington
County personnel did the necessary repairs.

In the early survey of 1906, the stone showed scars from bullets
It was close to Fort Ramsay and Fort Buffalo, which

or grapeshot.
may account for the scars. Apparently the markers were used for
target practice during the Civil War.

In the survey of 1894-97 it was missing; Mr. Morgan Steeves, a
resident of Falls Church for forty years, said it stood near the

road on the side of Throckmorton or Upton Hill, fell into a caving
and finally disappeared in the

bank, lay there where it fell,
it had been found and reset, although rotated and

1880s.' By 1906,
not in its proper 1location. Fort Ramsay occupigg the western
portion of the hill upon which the stone is placed.

It is, however, actually 10 miles and 230.6 feet from the
South Cornerstone.

In the 1894-97% and 1906° surveys, 1t was badly broken, but the
pPleces were lying together.

The marker is only two feet high, the size of the intermediate
stones, not three feet high as the north and east cornerstones are.
The cornerstones were supposed to have been marked "Jurisdiction
9f the United States" vertically on one side, in contrast to the
intermediate stones where the "Jurisdiction of the United States"
runs horizontally on one side of the stone. The stone lettering
on the West Cornerstone is different, with the words "Jurisdiction
of the United States" being carved horizontally around two sides
of the stone. This is the only stone so marked. Now worn away,
on two of its bevelled edges at the top, the "West Corner" was
engraved, also unlike any of the other stones. Southeast #3 is a
three foot stone, the size the East and North cornerstones are and
the size that all the cornerstones were supposed to have been. It
therefore appears that the present day West Cornerstone and the
Southeast #3 stone were mixed up in 1791. This would also account
for the fact of the two-sided horizontal writing, as the smaller
Size stone used as the West Cornerstone couldn't accommecdate the
vertical writing that was to have been carved on the cornerstones.

The marker has grooves on the top, indicating that the center of
the stone is the corner of the District of Columbia.



NW |. It was noted in the 1894-97 survey that part of the top was broken

NwW Z

NW 3

off.

The 1894-97 survey noted that it was partially ?roken off with
pieces being carried off to be used as whetstones. ?he words "gf
the" appear in italics for the first time, and continue to be in

italics on the stones placed after NW2.

In 1897 it was found broken off below the ground, with the broken
part lying twenty to thirty feet from the base which was long
buried and out of sight. It was thought to have been broken by an
army wagon during the Civil War. Surveyors developing the water
power at Little Falls diligently searched for the stump in 1894
and found it after much difficulty. The inscription reads 3 Miles
& 14P, which means it was placeq three miles and fourteen poles or

rods from the West Cornerstone.
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MEMGCRANDUM

DATE: September 17, 1993
TO: Merni Fitzgerald, City Council Representative to NVPDC
FROM: Maurice J. Terman, Chairman, Historical Commission

SUBJECT.  Proposed Northern Virginia Boundary Stones Committee under NVPDC

On December 3, 1789, the Virginia legislature offered to cede any area in
the state up to 10 miles square to serve as the site of a permanent capital for the
United States. On July16, 17S0, an Act of Congress established that such a
Federal District would be on the Potomac River, and, on January 24, 1791,
President Washington proclaimed that the survey for such a district should be
made beginning at a point on Hunting Creek, running due northwest for ten miles,
thence into Maryland due northeast for ten miles, thence due southeast for ten
miles, and finally due southwest for ten miles to the beginning on Hunting Creexk.

Major Andrew Ellicott was invited to conduct the survey; he began his first
rough reconnaissance from Alexandria on February 14,1791, and crossed the
Potomac into Mai'yland on February 22. On March 30, 1791, the President issued &
Proclamation identifying the boundaries of the Federal Territory, and ordered themn
to be permanently marked. On Aprii 15,1791, the South Cornerstone was dedicated
at Jones Point in Alexandria, and later in 1791 an additional 13 one-foot- square
mitestones were engraved and put in place in Virginia.

On September 7, 1846, Congress and President Polk, in response to requests
from Virginians, retroceded the 31 square miles of the District of Columbia in
Virginia, and on March 20,1847, state laws again were in force within the new
Alexandria County, part of which became in 1870 the independent city of
Alexandria, and the remainder of which became in 1920 Arlington County. Part of
the former District boundary also became in 1936 the boundary between Arlington
and the town of Falls Church.



For a long time, the stones were generally ignored. Beginning in 1515, the
DAR began erecting an iron picket fence around each stone. Boundary Stone SW S
was recognized on the National Register of Historic Places on May 11,1876, and
became in 1980 a National Historic Landmark to honor Benjamin Banneker, the
Negro astronomer on the Ellicott survey team. The South Cornerstone was placed
on the National Register on May 19,1880, and the other 12 stones in Virginia were
added to the Register on February 1, 1991, with documentation provided by the
DAR. Also during the bicentennial year of 1991, an ad~hoc ‘inter jurisdictional
committee discussed the potential future of the stones at three meetings before

disbanding. ‘

At this time, four Virginia jurisdictions share responsibility for the 14
boundary stones. Falls Church has direct interest in SW 9 and West Cornerstone,
two of the three Virginia stones set within public parks. The Historical
Commission suggests that it now would be highly desirable for official
representatives of Alexandria City, Arlington County, Fairfax County, and Falls
Church City to create under the auspices of the NVPDC a new Northern Virginia
Boundary Stones Committee which could also.include authorized participants from
other organizations, such as the DAR, National Park Service, and local historical
societies. The Committee's mandate should be to determine:

a) the legal status of the stones,

b) the potential ownership and/or easement possibilities, including the
option for national legisiation,

C) the exact location and past and present status of each stone,

d) the future protection, preservation, restoration and/or reiocation
options,

and  e) the mechanisms for achieving wider public recognition and appreciation
for the stones, including the formulation and installation of historic
markers.



CITY OF FALLS CHURCH

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

DATE: March 16, 1994

TO: Ric Terman, Boundary Stones Committee
FROM: Peter H. Maier, City Attorneyphw7
SUBJECT: The Jurisdiction Stones

This is written in response to your request for an opinion as
to the ownership of the boundary marker stones. Please consider
this an informal legal opinion.

I could locate no statute which specifically discussed
ownership of the Virginia-Washington, DC boundary stones. The
Federal Retrocession Statute (9 Stat. 35) provided that following
referendum approval "full and absolute right and jurisdiction" of
the retroceded land would be in Virginia. Although I personally
have not examined the deed of retrocession which is located in
Alexandria, I have been told by Barbara Hynak that the deed
contains no mention of ownership of the stones.

As a general rule of property law, when real property is trans-
ferred, fixtures are transferred along with the property unless a
contrary intent is shown, either in the instrument of transfer or
in some other manner. The boundary markers are, in my opinion, in
the nature of fixtures and were effectively transferred at the time
of retrocession to Virginia. Because they are fixtures, the stones
belong to whoever owns the property on which they are located.

In reviewing the paper drafted by your son in 1972, there is
reference to a letter written in July 1963 by T. Sutton Jett, the
Regional Director of the National Park Service, to Robert W. Wilson
of the Arlington County Historical Commission, where Mr. Jett stated
that the retrocession apparently "included the boundary stones and
it was proper for the Arlington County government to assume the
responsibility for maintaining and protecting them." Mr. Jett's
letter is consistent with my opinion.

Z I'm trying to obtain a copy of this letter from the Arlington
County Historical Commission to see if it can shed further light
on this question. If I can obtain it, I'll forward it to you.

If any of the Committee members have a copy of the letter or know
where one can be found, I'd like to review it to see iIf it can
provide additional Information on this subject.



Mr. Ric Terman
March 16, 1994
Page 2

Barbara Hynak also tells me she believes there is an opinion,
perhaps 20 years old, written by the Arlington County Attorney's
office indicating that the stones in Arlington County on public
property belong to Arlington County. I'm trying to locate a copy
of this opinion in order to confirm its contents.

There is some indication in the history of the stones which
seems to indicate that, before Mr. Jett's letter to Mr. Wilson in
July 1963, the Federal government felt they owned the stones. For
example, I note that in 1915 the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers
granted authority for the stones to be enclosed by iron picket
fences by the Daughters of the American Revolution. However,
whatever the case was before, it appears that subsequent to 1963
the Federal government believed that the boundary stones were not
owned by it.?

I hope that this information proves useful. It seems to me
that the best approach to take is to obtain easements or other
agreements from the property owners concerning maintenance and
access to the boundary stones. As a practical matter, regardless
of who owns the stones themselves, the property owners would have
to grant an easement for anyone to have access to the stones
located on private property.

2 The fact that some or all of the stones are inscribed

"Jurisdiction of the United States” does not, Iin my opinion,
provide Insight into ownership of the stones. The word
"jurisdiction” in the context of a boundary marker clearly is
intended to indicate boundary Jline jurisdiction and not
ownership-~of-the-stone type jurisdiction.
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i D.C. BOUNDARY STONES

- GPS

' Resurvey

. of the
D.C.
Boundary
Stones

n September 1989.

Dexter M. Brinker of

Durango, Colorado. pre-
sented a paper at the ACSM/
ASPRS Fall Convention entitled
“District of Columbia Boundary
Bicentennial " In his account
of the history of the survey that
delineated the original bounda-
ries of the Federal Territory,
Brinker noted its special sig-
nificance to surveyors nation-
wide. He also suggested that it
would be appropriate for
ACSM to participate in plan-
ning activities to commemo-

By Michael G. Shackelford
and David R. Doyle

Northwes! No. 5 mile marker, set in 1782, was the y
second boundaty stone set in “,,7,,7,,9:' Located  Tate the 200th anniversary of

deep in & wooded area within the fenced Dalecarlia this important survey.

Reservation, this stone is one of many that cannot & 3 :
be observed directty by GPS methods. (Photo by _AIO"" commiitee 0”’7_‘? Na-
Richard Witmer, D.C. Boundary Bicentennisl  tional Society of Professional

Committee) Surveyors (NSPS) and the
American Association for Geodetic Surveying (AAGS) is proceed-
ing with celebration plans. The District of Columbia Boundary Bi-
centennial Committee's program includes a Global Positioning
System (GPS) resurvey of the original boundary stones marking
the borders of the District of Columbia, Maryland, and Virginia.
Surveyors from both the public and private sector, representing
the National Geodetic Survey (NGS), the Washington Suburban
Sanitary Commission (WSSC), Fairfax County, Virginia, and
numerous private consulting firms in the greater Washington,
D.C., metropolitan area have already begun the preliminary
recovery phase of the project.
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GPS resurvey of the D.C. bound-
ary stones is to be done by a
method similar to that used by
the National Oceanic and Atmos-
pheric Administration (NOAA)
and NGS in the 1970s to resurvey
the original boundary stones set
by Charles Mason and Jeremiah
Dixon in the 1760s on the Mary-
land-Delaware state line. Those
boundaries are part of the Mason-
Dixon Line. Local surveyors in the
Washington, D.C., area have vol-
unteered to perform the bound-

obtain first-order positions wher-
ever possible, and where neces-
sary, perform terrestrial surveys
by conventional methods to tie
the boundary monuments to
existing or newly established
offset stations.

The following steps will be re-
quired:

1. Recover the existing bound-
ary stones to determine their
suitability for direct GPS observa-
tions.

2. Recover existing NGRS

D.C. BOUNDARY STONES

5. Perform GPS observations.

6. Perform conventional terres-
trial observations.

7. Prepare “Blue Book” data set
for all observations and descrip-
tions to be submitted to NGS.

8. Adjust the combined GPS and
classical data set by NGS and in-
corporate the data into the NGS
Integrated Data Base.

How the horizontal control
survey ties the boundary stones
into the NGRS poses some inter-

esting problems. Unlike

ary stone resurvey.

The original boundary
stones were set at 1-mile
intervals during the survey
of the 10-mile-square Fed-
eral Territory begun Febru-
ary 1791 by Major Andrew
Ellicott with the help of
Benjamin Banneker. The
original boundary survey
took nearly two years to
complete, while this new
survey will take only a few
months.

The resurvey will locate
the monuments marking the
original boundary survey of
the District of Columbia,
but will not determine the
boundary lines. The com-
mittee has decided that this

most control surveys,
where the monumentation
is placed where it is
needed and most available
to the user community,
this project requires that
either the boundary stones
be “GPSed” directly, or
tied by conventional
traverse techniques to
existing control or to
newly established GPS sta-
tions. Since the boundary
stones are located on both
public and private proper-
ties, many land owners or
property managers must
be contacted to ensure
proper access to monu-
ments and control points,

is a legal question to be

authorities.

or to permit the establish-

This map shows location of the mile markers that delineate the original boundery ment of new stations.
resolved later by the proper of the District of Columbia. The stones on the Virginia side of the Potomac River
were set in 1791; the stones in Maryland were set in 1792. (Map courtesy National

New monuments will
consist of 3.25-inch domed

Capital Planning Commission, Washington, D.C.; reprinted from Boundary Markers

DETERMINING
PRECISE
COORDINATES

A major part of this project is to
determine the precise coordi-
nates of each of the boundary
stones with respect to the North
American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83)
to at least third-order accuracy as
defined by the Federal Geodetic
Control Committee (FGCC). The
data will be given to NGS to incor-
porate into the National Geodetic
Reference System (NGRS). The
committee decided to use GPS to

3000 JUNE 1990

horizontal and vertical control
points to be used to tie the
boundary stones to the network.

3. Select sites for new monu-
mentation offsets from boundary
stones that cannot be positioned
directly with GPS, and reference
stones that can be occupied with
GPS.

4. Write descriptions for all
marks used in the survey and
ensure that they are in the proper
format to submit to NGS.

of the Nation's Captal, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., 1976)  rass disks identifying the

stations as having been es-

tablished by the District of
Columbia Boundary Bicentennial
Committee. The disks will be set
in concrete poured 3.5 to 4 feet
deep, flush with the ground. No
underground or reference marks
will be set.

PRELIMINARY RECOVERY
OF STONES

To date, a preliminary recovery
of the four sides of the boundary
has been completed. Of the 40
monuments set originally, 37 have

ACSM BULLETIN



been recovered. One of the non-
recovered stations is known to
have been buried by a landfill,
and an attempt to uncover this
stone is being made by the Dis-
trict of Columbia Surveyor's
Office.

D.C. BOUNDARY STONES

to establish two new intervisible
GPS stations at least a quarter of
a mile apart, more convenient
stations will be set and second-
order astronomic azimuth obser-
vations and traverse procedures
will be used to control the posi-

A Trimble 4000ST receiver was used to perform GPS observations at Northwest No. 6 mile marker on Western
Avenue. Pictured are members of the D.C. Boundary Bicentennial Committee: (left to right) David Doyle,
Richard Witmer, Alan Dragoo, Douglas Richmond, Michsel Shackelford, and Burton Sours Jr. (Photo by Richard

Witmer, D.C. Boundary Bicentennial Committee)

Preliminary recovery of the
stones was done to determine
how many were still in existence
and to inspect the physical
condition of the monuments and
their protective cages. We are
also in the process of recovering
published control points that are
within one mile of the stones and
selecting potential sites for new
stations needed to control
conventional ties to monuments
that are not accessible by GPS.

POSITIONING BY GPS

Due to the many obstructions
around the monuments, only
about 10 of the boundary stones
can he positioned directly by GPS
methods. Monuments not ob-
served directly with GPS will be
tied to the network with at least
two existing control points by
means of classical traverse
techniques.

In cases where it is impossible

ACSM BULLETIN

tions of the boundary stones.
However, in many cases the
nearest NGRS station is either too
far away to be a convenient tie, or
has been destroyed.

The two newly established
control points at ACSM headquar-
ters in Bethesda, Maryland, will
also be used (see February ACSM
Bulletin, p.11; April ACSM Bulletin,
p. 15). The Glascock Building,
where ACSM offices are located,
is about four miles from the north
point of the District of Columbia
boundary. These points can be
observed with GPS and will be
tied to the primary network by
first-order standards.

Even in cases where the stones
can be positioned directly with
GPS, a new station will be estab-
lished nearby, if possible, as an
offset to ensure greater perma-
nence. Completion of this project
will provide accurate positions
for the existing boundary stones

and for the approximately 85 new
GPS stations that will be required.
This will help increase the density
of control available to surveyors
in the Washington. D.C., area for
other cadastral, surveying, and
engineering projects.

The committee has had great
success in obtaining “loaner™ GPS
and other geodetic equipment to
conduct the field operations.
WSSC, Rinker-Detwiler & Associ-
ates, a private consulting firm m
Virginia, and the Howard County.
Maryland, Department of Public
Works have offered the use of 10
Trimble 4000ST single-frequency
GPS receivers. These will be used
to establish the control network,
while the conventional surveys
will be conducted with a Wild T-3,
0.1-second theodolite from NGS,
and a Wild TC2000 total station,
courtesy of Wild Leitz USA Inc.

Volunteers from both the
Potomac Chapter of the Maryland
Society of Surveyors and the
Mount Vernon Chapter of the
Virginia Association of Surveyors
began new mark setting and ob-
servations in April. Completion of
all survey operations is antici-
pated by July and the final adjust-
ment by NGS should be com-
pleted by October.

The final evaluation of this
survey will allow accurate mathe-
matical determination of the
Maryland-District of Columbia
boundary, as well as of the
northern line between Arlington
and Fairfax counties in Virginia,
which was the original boundary
between Virginia and the District
of Columbia until the Retroces-
sion Act of 1846.

BOUNDARY
BICENTENNIAL EVENTS

After the final adjustments are
released by NGS, the results will
be published in a book being
written by committee members.
The volume will include a section
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D.C. BOUNDARY STONES

on the history of the original historic groups, archaeological The final scope of the project

survey by Silvio A. Bedini of the commissions, and Masons, to will also depend on the funds

Smithsonian Institution in Wash- name a few, that have similar ac- raised. A proposed project

ington, D.C. tivities planned to celebrate this budget, estimated at nearly
Among other activities pro- historic event. * $90,000, and fund-raising activi-

posed by the committee
are restoration and preser-
vation of the Daughters of
the American Revolution's
(D.A.R.) iron cages that
protect the monuments. A
re-enactment survey and
ceremony is scheduled at
the initial or south point
located at Jones Point Park
in Alexandria, Virginia,
March 24, 1991, the Sunday
immediately preceding the
ACSM/ASPRS Annual Con-
vention in Baltimore, Mary-
land.

Realization of these
plans depends on obtain-
ing permission and coop-
eration from many local,
county, state, and federal
agencies, as well as such
organizations and commit-
tees as the ACSM 50th An-
niversary Committee,
D.AR., and the District of

ties will be announced in
the near future.

Donations are greatly
appreciated and should
be sent to Richard Wit-
mer, Treasurer, District of
Columbia Boundarv
Bicentennial Committee.
Box 9300. Silver Spring.
MD 20906. If vou have
questions, comments. or
suggestions regarding the
project. you are encour-
aged to write directly to
the committee or, if you
prefer, contact ACSM
headquarters for informa-
tion. m

Michae! G. Shackelford s
registered as a land sur-
veyor in five states and
works in private practice
in the Washington, D C.
area

David R. Doyle s senior

geodesist for the Horizon-
tal Network Branch, Na-

Columbia’s Bicentennial
Commission. Much effort

Northeast No. 5 mile marker Is located on a well-maintained private lawn on
i . g Eastern Avenve. Even though this stone and its protective cage are in good !
will be required to coordi-  condition, the stone cannot be observed directly by GPS methods. (Photo  tional Geodetic Survey.

nate the many interested courtesy National Capital Planning Commission, Washington, D.C.) Rockville, Maryland.

SHAREWARE
COordinate GeOmetry

SHAREWARE COGO (with CADD support). GeoCalc Software Systems presents a full-featured. command-
oriented ''power’’ COGO program for IBM PC/ST/ATs and cempatibles using CGA or EGA graphics. Aimost
100 commands comprise the complete function table, including spirals, figure storage and geometry, batch
processing via word processor, 999 points per file, and 999 figures per file. Registered users may expand to
10.000 points per file, traverse balancing, an interactive help feature, a RAM-resident word processor, and
generation of CADD drawing files for export to Generic Cadd with labeling of point numbers, bearings and
distances, and arc lengths and radii of curves (to user-specified scales).

The complete 270 Kb program and 140-page reference manual are included on a 5'a-inch disk. This is NOT a
demonstration, but a complete, functional shareware program.

Send $30.00 or call after 6:00 p.m.

GeoCalc Software Systems Co., Inc.
P.O. Box 5308 « Philadeiphia, Peannsyivania 19142 » Telephone (215) 365-5585
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Attachment 11

Exempted from recordation taxes
under the Code of Virginia (1950) as amended,
section 58.1-811(A)

DEED OF EASEMENT

THIS DEED OF EASEMENT, made this day of , 1994 by

and his/her/their heirs, successors and assigns, herein

collectively referred to as the Grantor, and the COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA,
VIRGINIA BOARD OF HISTORIC RESOURCES, herein referred to as the Grantee,

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Chapter 22 of Title 10.1 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended, was
enacted to preserve historic and architectural landmarks in the Commonwealth of Virginia, and
charges the Virginia Board of Historic Resources to designate as historic landmarks such
buildings, structures, and sites as it determines to be of historical, architectural, or
archaeological significance and to receive properties and interests in properties for the purpose,
among other things, of the preservation of such landmarks and their settings; and

WHEREAS, the Grantor is owner of a tract of land, herein described, on which is
located one of the original stone boundary markers for the District of Columbia; and

WHEREAS, such boundary marker is of historic importance and is listed on the Virginia
Landmarks Register and the National Register of Historic Places; and

WHEREAS, both the Grantor and the Grantee desire to ensure the preservation of the
boundary marker;

NOW THEREFORE, in recognition of the foregoing and in consideration of the sum
of Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other valuable consideration, the receipt of which is already
acknowledged, the Grantor does hereby grant and convey to the Grantee an easement in
perpetuity in gross (with right in perpetuity to restrict the use of as described below), over the
property described in "Attachment A" (hereinafter called the Easement Property).

The restrictions hereby imposed on the use of the Easement Property are in accord with
the policy of the Commonwealth of Virginia, as set forth in Chapter 22 of Title 10.1 of the Code
of Virginia of 1950, as amended, to preserve the principal historical, architectural, and
archaeological landmarks in the Commonwealth of Virginia. Acts which the Grantor covenants
to do and not to do upon the Easement Property, and restrictions which the Grantee is hereby
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entitled to enforce, shall be as follows:

1.

The parties agree that the photographs of the Easement Property taken by
of the Department of Historic Resources (DHR negative number

) on , accurately document the appearance and condition of the
boundary marker as of the date of this easement. The negatives of the said documentary
photographs shall be stored permanently in the picture collection of the Virginia State

Library.

The boundary marker shall not be demolished or removed from the Easement Property,
nor shall it be intentionally altered in any way. No cleaning, waterproofing, or other
chemical treatment of the boundary marker shall be undertaken unless the prior written
approval of the Grantee shall have been obtained.

The Grantor shall take reasonable precautions to protect the boundary marker from
looting, vandalism, erosion, mutilation, or destruction from any cause.

The Grantor agrees that the boundary marker may be viewed by members of the public
on a reasonable basis, which shall include, at 2 minimum, allowing persons affiliated
with educational organizations or historical societies to view the boundary marker by
appointment with the Grantor. Such appointments shall be scheduled upon at least one
week’s notice, at times which are convenient to the Grantor.

No permanent dump of ashes, sawdust, bark, trash, rubbish, or other unsightly or
offensive material shall be permitted on the Easement Property.

No sign, billboard, or outdoor advertising structure shall be displayed on the property
without the consent of the Grantee, other than signs not exceeding three feet by three feet
for any or all of the following purposes: (i) to provide information necessary for the
normal conduct of any permitted activity (ii) to advertise the property for sale or rental,
and (iii) to provide notice necesssary for the protection of the property and for giving
information and directions to visitors.

The Grantee and its representatives may enter the property (i) from time to time, upon
10 days’ written notice to the Grantor, for the sole purpose of inspections and
enforcement of the terms of the easement granted herein, and (ii) in its discretion, to
erect at a location acceptable to the Grantor a single marker or sign, not exceeding two
feet by two feet, which states the name of the Grantee and advises that the Grantee owns
the easement granted herein.

In the event of a violation of this Easement, the Grantee shall have the right to seek all
appropriate legal and equitable relief, including but not limited to the right to secure the
Easement Property against threatened destruction or disturbance of the boundary marker
and to assert the cost thereof as a lien against the Easement Property.
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9. Prior to any inter vivos transfer of the Easement Property, excluding deeds of trust given
for the purpose of securing loans, the Grantor shall notify the Grantee in writing,

Although this easement in gross will benefit the public in the ways recited above, nothing
herein shall be construed to convey a right to the public of access to or use of the property, and
tfe Grantor shall retain exclusive rights to such access and use, subject only to the provisions
herein recited.

Acceptance by the Virginia Board of Historic Resources of this conveyance is authorized
by sections 10.1-2204 and 10.1-1701 of the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended.

Witness the following signatures and seal:

(SEAL)

(SEAL)

Accepted:
VIRGINIA BOARD OF HISTORIC RESOURCES

By:

H. Alexander Wise, Jr.
Director, Department of Historic Resources

Date:
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STATE of VIRGINIA )
of ) To wit:

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of
- , 1994, by , the Grantor therein.

Notary Public

My commission expires:

STATE of VIRGINIA )
CITY of RICHMOND ) To wit:

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this day of
, 1994, by H. Alexander Wise, Jr., Director, Department of Historic
Resources, on behalf of the Virginia Board of Historic Resources, Grantee therein.

Notary Public

My commission expires:
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Attachment [2

COMMONWEALTH of VIRGINIA 221 covemer suee

e T Richmond, Virginia 23
January 23, 1995 Department of Historic Resources nd, Virginia 23219

Maurice J. Terman
Chairman, NOVABOSTCO
616 Poplar Drive

Falls Church, VA 22046

RE: Northern Virginia Boundary Stones

Dear Mr. Terman:

As we discussed in our recent conversations by telephone, the Virginia Department of Historic
Resources is very interested in cooperating with NOVABOSTCO on your important project o
preserve and protect the fourteen Federal boundary markers placed in Virginia during George
Washington's administration. Because the stones are already listed on the state and national
registers, and are associated with important events in our state and national history, the
markers make excellent candidates for easement protection, provided the owners are willing to
grant an easement donation 1o the state.

Donation of a historic easement would involve the permanent legal transfer of some of the
property rights of a landowner to the Commonwealth. For tax purposes, an casement
donation is considered a charitable donation. DHR's policy is to work with willing property
owners who enter into these legal transactions completely voluntarily, with their eyes and ears
open. Your organization can be most helpful to us by individually contacting the Jandowners,
whether private or public, to solicit their possible interest in considering a voluntary easement
donation. Once you have approached the landowners and determined who is truly interested in
learning more about our easement program, please contact Calder Loth, senior architectural
historian on our staff, to set up a schedule for meetings with the interested landowners. Your
suggestion of setting up a series of individual appointments to be held consecutively on the

same day is an excellent one.

Please be advised that the sample plat your sent us is more than adequate for the purpose of
giving an accurate legal description of the boundary stone’s location for which the plat is

drawn.

The Virginia Board of Historic Resources is the public body with authority to accept easements
on behalf of the Commonwealth. DHR serves as the Board's staff. DHR's Director, Alex
Wise, has authority to sign easement deeds on the Board's behalf. The Board meets every
other month. Its next meeting will be held on February 22 , with the following meeting

TELEPHONE: (804) 786-3143 TDD: (804) 786-1934 FAX: (804) 225-4261



scheduled for April 19. Both dates are auspicious for the occasion of discussing
NOVABOSTCO’s mission and to inform the Board of the progress of our work together;
however, the April date is probably more realistic. Your suggestion of having a public
ceremony to obscrve the signing of any easement deeds that emerge from our collaboration is,
again, an excellent idea. We will be happy to pursue it at the appropriate time.

I hope this summary is consistent with your understanding of our discussions to date.
You have our every good wish for success. 1 am glad to hear that you received a copy of our

RFP for the establishment of additional DHR field offices. We are encouraged by the strong
interest shown by communities in Northern Virginia and around the state in the RFP.

If we can be of further assistance, please let us know. 1 remain,

Yours sincerely,

(I, it ———

Robert Allen Carter \
Senior Program Manager, Special Projects

c: H. Alexander Wise, Jr., Calder C. Loth
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NORTHERN VIRGINIA BOUNDARY STONE SURVEY

MARKER #/NAME:
MARKER LOCATION:

OBSERVER NAME/A GENCY:

RECORDER NAME/A GENCY:

PHOTOGRAPHS T AKEN:

PHOTOGRAPHER NAME/A GENCY:

DATE:

WEATHER:

Closest public thoroughfare?

Is the marker visible from this thoroughfare?
Is the marker legally accessible?

Is the marker on public or private property?
What is the property currently used for?

Is the marker present?

Is the marker original?

If no - type of material used?

Is the marker coated?

If yes, with what is it coated?

Marker Condition:

Top:

Four Vertical Faces:

West Corner Stone

West Corner Stone Park

Doug Pickford (NVPDC), Charles Smith
(NVRPA), Maurice Terman (No. Va. Boundary
Stones Committee), Elaine McGee, Barbara
Hynak (DAR)

Doug Pickford (NVPDC)

Yes

Charles Smith (NVRPA)

7/20/94

Clear - 90 Degrees and Humid

Arizona

Yes

Yes

Public

Parkland - West Cornerstone Park

Yes

Yes

NA

No

NA

Stone is chipped and pitted. Stone is in it's
original position and orientation representing the
boundary of the City of Falls Church, Fairfax
County, and Arlington County. Stone is tilting
towards the east. :

(See Terman notes)

(See Terman notes)
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NORTHERN VIRGINIA BOUNDARY STONE SURVEY

Inscriptions: Legible where stone has not been chipped away.

Base: In ground - tilting towards the east.

Condition of Cage: Not of the 1916 variety. The largest of all
cages. Painted brown, in good condition and
stable.

Condition of Plaque:

Site Conditions: "~ Located in a small, quiet, tree shaded park with
benches located nearby. Excellent setting with
easy access.

Dimension of Stone: Height - 2' Width - SE 13" SW 12 1/2"

Dimension of Cage: Height - 5' 2" Width- S 8'6 172" W 7'3 3/4"

No. of Pictures: 4
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NORTHERN VIRGINIA BOUNDARY STONES COMMITTEE
SUMMARY STATUS REPORT ON THE NORTHERN VIRGINIA BOUNDARY STONES
February 1995

A field survey of the Northern Virginia Boundary Stones was conducted on
July 20,1994, by a team composed of Committee members Barbara Hynak
(Arlington, DAR), Doug Pickford (NVPDC), Charies Smith (NVRPA), and Ric
Terman (Falls Church), and consultant Elaine McGee (USGS). They visited 13
of the 14 stones (all except NW3) and systematically recorded basic data
and took a number of photos at each site. These data were put on a
word-processing disc by Pickford and combined with the photos by Smith to
create a permenent loose-leaf notebook file. Terman has now compiled the
following tabular summaries of some of the key data from that status
survey. At subsequent meetings, it is suggested that this data will serve as
a basis for formulating Committee recommendations for future action by
the jurisdictions at each stone:

Stone | Origi | Orien| Size: HxWxW | Position  [Owner | Plat | Access |In: |Shape | Words
SC NO YES  35X9X13" OK NPS PARK NO POOR GROUND POOR FEW
SwWi1 YES NO 19X11.25X11.5" 350' LONG CITYROW YES FAIR GROUND GOOD ALL
Swz2 NO NO 29.5X11X17" 1700' SHORT CITYROW NO GOOD CEMENT POOR NONE
SW3 YES YES 18.5X11X11" OK PRIVATE YES GOOD CEMENT FAIR SOME
Swa  YES? NO 5X6.5X8" MOVED VDOTROW YES GOOD GROUND STUMP NONE
SW5 NO? NO 9X13X18.5" 250' LONG CITY? ROW NO GOOD GROUND STUMP  NONE
SW6 YES NO 25X12X12" MOVED ARL.ROW NO GOOD GROUND PATCHED SOME
SW7 YES YES 23X11X11.5" OK PRIV/SCH YES FAIR GROUND PQOOR FEW !
Sw8 YES NO 24+8X12X13.5" MOVED PRIVATE YES GOOD GROUND POOR FEW
SW9 YES VYES 12X11X11° OK PUB. PARK YES GOOD GROUND GOOD ALL
wC YES YES 24X12.5X13" OK PUB. PARK YES GOOD GROUND BROKEN FEW
Nwi1 YES YES 24+10X11X11" OK PRIVATE YES GOOD GROUND FAIR SOME
NW2 YES VYES 23+4X11X11.5" OK PRIVATE YES LIMITED GROUND FAIR SOME
NW3 YES YES 2 OK PRIVATE YES LIMITED GROUND GOOD MOST

Stone | Fence Size |[Fence: Color |Date |Plague [ Past Photos |New Phatas |Comments
SC 62X30X60"? GOOD; CEMENT 1926 6HX9W* 97/08/15/76 0H/6S/6M DIFFICULT TO SEE

SwWi 60X37X37° GOQD; WHITE 1916  4Xxs8" 1908 2H/5S/9M DOUBLE FENCED
Sw2  60X37X37" GOOD: BLACK 1920  4X8° NONE 1H/I5S/TM NOT ORIGINAL
SwW3 64x36x36" FAIR; BLACK 1991  4X8° 1908. 1976 2H/6S/9M PARTLY BURIED
SW4  60X36X36"° FAIR; GREEN 1916  4X8° 1908 2H/1S/3M BROKEN OFF
SWs 58X36X37" FAIR; WHITE 1921  4Xxs8* 1908 1H2S/6M BROKEN OFF
SW6  63X37X37 POOR; BLUE 1965 ODD 1908 2H/4S/10M BADLY PATCHED
SwW7 65X46X48° POOR; GREEN NONE NONE 1908 2H/4S/8M POORLY SET
SwB  48X36X36° FAIR; GREEN 1950 6X5° 1908 1H/4SITM POORLY SET
SW9  62X36X36" GOOD; BROWN 19897 12x8° 1908 1H/5S8/7TM PARTLY BURIED
wC 62X88X102* GOOD; BROWN 19527 ? 94/08/76 3H/4AS/TM MISSING PIECE
NwW1 69X37X37"° FAIR; GREEN 1916  4Xg* 1908 2HRS/7TM MUCH EROSION
NwW2  58X36X36" FAIR; BLUE 1969  6X9° 1908 1H/4S/8M HARD TO VISIT

Nw3 ? ? ? ? 1808, 1976 2H/0S/0M HARD TO VISIT
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19. Fred. E. Woodward's pictures of the WJurisdiction Stones" :
taken in 1907 (?) and published in 190C8:
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19. (continued)
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19. (continued)

ON 1.AND OoF W, H. TORRISON,
In bad condition.

NEar FarLs CHURCH R. R. STATION.
The only stone in good condition.
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19. (continued)

IN THE CrRIMMINS WoOODs.
Badly broken and scarred.
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ON LAND OF HENKY STROIIMAN,

Broken below the surface.

ON THE JAMES PAVYNE ESTATE.
Near the line of Old Dominion Electric R. R.

26. Fred E. Woodward's picture of the

recovered south cornerstone;
publisked in 1915:
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Extracted from: Building Stones of our Nation's Capital,
Ce Fo Withington, USGS INF-74-35, p. 8-11

Aquia Creek sandstone was also a
popular construction malerial for pub-
lic buildings between 1790 and 1840.
It was used for the White House, the
older parts of the Capitol, the Treas-
ury Building, and the Old Patent
Olfice, now the Nalional Porlrait Gal-
lery. This rock, of Lower Crelaceous
age, is an unusual stone composed
principally of quartz sand, pebbles,
and clay pellels, cemented by silica.
The sandstone received ils name from
Aquia Creek in Stafford Counly, Vir-
ginia, near where it was quarried. The
stone Is unique because only here are
the Coaslal Plain sedimenis in the
vicinlly of Washington cemented sulfi-
ciently to be useful as a building
stone. This stone Is also called Vir-
ginia freestone, a term applied to
sandslone that splits wilh equal ease
in any desired direclion and dresses
easily because of the incomplele
cementation ol the sand grains. Aquia
Creek sandslone, allhough easier to
work and more esthetic than the Pied-
mont rocks, was ill-suiled for use as
building slone because it was full of
troublesome flaws. Ils popularity re-
sulted simply from the lack of other
readily available building materlal in
the Washington area. Furthermore, the
quarries were situated near waler
ransporlation, the best available at
thal time, about 40 miles from Wash-
ington on the Virginia shore of the
Polomac. Thus, the poor qualitly of the
stone was overlooked.

In February 1807 Benjamin Lalrobe,
second Archilect of the Capitol, gave
a detailed accoun! of the Aquia Creek
sandslone in an address lo the Ameri-
can Philosophical Sociely. He listed
the components ol the stone as sand:

... generally sharp; clay, In nod-
ules, . . . rounded pebbles of
quarlz, sandstone, and granile;
... pyrite or lumps of marsh mud
mixed with sulphat (sic) or sul-
phuret of iron, eflloresing In the
alr; nodules of iron ore in sand

... [which] . . . dissolve In air
and waler, and staln the slone
disagreeably . . .; wood ... from
frunks and branches of trees of
large size, to small twigs . . . at
places enlirely carbonized, or the
wood carbonlzed and the bark
fiberous so that it appears as a
net, or the bark fibercus and the
wood friable, or the wood re-
placed by pyrite, which effloresce
in air . . . the color of the stone
varies from while lo a dark rusty
tint . .. the degree of hardness Is
very varlous. When moderately
hard, its fracture Is rough and Ir-
regular, when very hard, concave
and even, wher breathed upon, It
has a strong earthy, and some-
what hepatlc smell.

Lalrobe poinled oul that the size of
the sandstone blocks sent to Wash-
inglon was limiled to 4 tons because
of transportation difficullies. The best
quarry was 2 miles soulhwest of Aquia
Creek, where the rock conlained no
joint ", .. horizontal or perpendicular,
and columns of any size, not exceed-
ing 15 feet in diameter, might be got
out ol it, if they could afterward be
removed . . ." The stone was used
successfully in the construction of the
Capilol and other early public build-
ings, bul it was soon found thal the
slone was poorly cemenled, and much
of it had to be painled or replaced
soon aller il was installed.

Aquia Creek sandslone was also
used in Yhe boundary stones of the
District of Columbia. The cornerstone
marking the southern limit of the Fed-
eral Cily was set in place by Major
Pierre Charles L'Enfant, the planner
of the city of Washington, at Jones
Point, Alexandria, Virginia, in April
1791. This storie and all but a few of
the 40 original boundary stones of lhe
10-mile-square District may be seen
at or near their original locations. The
sides are engraved to show the juris-
diction of the United Stales and of the



States of Virginia and Maryland, the
year, and the magnetic declination of
the compass. Some of these slones
are badly weathered, even though
they are only 4 feet long by 1 foot
square and therefore small enough to
have been cut from the hardest and
soundest part of this ‘‘exceedingly
various" Aquia Creek sandslone.

The best places to see the stone as
it was used indoors are in the older
parts of the Capitol and the Old Pal-
ent Office, belween 7th and 9th
Streets and F and G Streets NW. The
sandstone gallery of the Old Patent
Office, with its plain squat columns, is
particularly impressive. In the Capitol
Building, Aquia Creek sandstone may
be seen in the walls and columns of
the rooms adjoining the rotunda.
Latrobe's graceful Little Rotunda to-
bacco column colonnade in the Sen-
ate wing on fhis floor is especially
allractive. Downstairs, the simple
Doric sandstone columns of the crypt
have a brownish cast, while the
famous cornstalk columns in a nearby
enlrance hall are decidedly gray.
Latrobe was especially proud of his
original design for these six small
cornstalk columns, but even for these
he was unable to obtain unflawed
stone from the Aquia Creek quarry.

An outstanding example of Aquia
Crecek sandstone still in use outdoors
is the original section of the Old Pat-
ent Office. This part of the building,
with its pedimented Doric portico
copied from the Parthenon and built
between 1836 and 1840, was designed
by W. P. Elliolt and was executed by
Robert Mills, who served for a time as
Architect of Public Buildings. The res!
of the building, which was built during
the 1850's and 1860's, is of marble
from Cockeysville, Maryland, in the
Piedmont province. On each facade
there is a marble portico to match the
older sandstone portico on the south.
The warm brownish tones of the sand-
stone conlrast with the cold grays and
whites of the marble. On the whole,
the flaws in this sandslone are minor.
They have been repaired, and the
facade and the great portico look
reassuringly sound.

The part of the Treasury Building
built by Mills—the middle of the east
facade along 15th Street NW., with ils
long lonic colonnade, and the central
corridor—was completed in 1842
The other wings, which are of Maine
granite, were built between 1855 and
1869. The columns of the later wings
are granite monoliths, quarried on Dix
island, Maine, and brought to Wash-
inglon in sailing vessels. Each of
these 30-lon columns was set in place
by block and tackle and a team of 16
oxen. The columns were designed by
Thomas U. Walter, who was also the
Architect of the Capitol, and under
whose stewardship the great iron
dome and wings of the Capitol were
built. For years the east facade of the
Treasury with ils sandsione columns
slood in incongruous conlrast to the
gray granite of the newer wings.
Finally, in 1907, the sandstone facing
and the columns of the east front
were replaced by granite from Mil-
ford, Massachusells, which closely
resembles the Maine granile. The
weathered sandstone drums of the
original columns were placed in the
landfill for the new ground of the Lin-
coln Memorial.

Poor-qualily Aquia Creek sandstone
was used in the Capitol gatehouses
and gateposts built by Charles Bul-
finch about 1829. These structures
show how 'treacherous" this stone
can be when exposed o the elements.
They were moved from the Capitol
grounds in 1874. Some are on Consti-

iution Avenue near the Washington

Monument; one gatehouse and three
gateposts are localéd at 15th Street
and Constitution Avenue NW., and an-
other gatehouse farther west at 17ih
Street NW. Two more of the gateposts
are in Fort Tolten Park in northeast
Washington.
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Federal District Boundary Markers in Northern Virginia:
Condition and Preservation Issues

Background

The capital of the United States of America was established on 100 square
miles of land ceded by Maryland and Virginia to the Federal government in 1780. In
1791 and 1792 the new Federal area was surveyed and marked with gray sandstone
boundary markers, typically four feet long and one foot square in size, that were taken
from ledges at the Aquia Creek quarry located in Stafford County, Virginia. The
boundary markers were placed at one mile intervals around the perimeter of the
Federal area, beginning at Jones Point in Alexandria, Virginia at the southern corner
of the area.

in 1846, the part of the District located south and west of the Potomac River
was ceded back to Virginia. Thus, fourteen of the original markers for the Fesderal
District boundary are located in Northern Virginia. Over the years, responsibility for
maintenance of the boundary markers, particularly those in Northern Virginia, has been
uncertain (Terman, 1972). However, from 1915 to 1920 various chapters of the
Daughters of the American Revolution (DAR) located, restored, and fenced most of
the stones. In 1963, the National Park Service, who had responsibility for the
Boundary stones along the Maryland - District line, determined that when the Federal
land was retroceded to Virginia in 1846, it included the boundary stones so the
National Park Service was not responsible for maintaining or protecting the stones that
were located in Virginia (Terman, 1972). Through the efforts of the Daughters of the
American Revolution, the Federal District Boundary markers were placed on the
National Register of Historic Places in 1991.

in 1994, the Northern Virginia Boundary Stones Committee (NVBSC) was
formed at the invitation of, and with staff support from the Northern Virginia Planning
District Commission. One of the objectives of the Northern Virginia Boundary Stones
Committee is to deveiop a long term plan for the preservation of the fourteen original
Federal District survey markers located in Northern Virginia. The committee asked me
to speak in general about the Aquia Creek sandstone and about stone preservation
issues. As a mineralogist-petrologist with the U.S. Geological Survey, | have been
studying stone deterioration due to acid rain and air pollution. | am also working with
the National Park Service on their on-going preservation projects at the Lincoln and
Jefferson Memorials in Washington D.C. On June 28, 1994 | attended a meeting of
the Northern Virginia Boundary Stones Committee in order to provide background in-
formation about features and weathering characteristics of the Aquia Creek sandstone
and to speak generally about stone preservation issues. On July 21, 1994 | joined
several members of the Northern Virginia Boundary Stones Committee in a field trip
to examine the condition of the stones. This report summarizes my comments at the
committee meeting, summarizes my observations of the condition of the boundary
stones, and suggests elements to include in pians for the preservation of the markers.
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Aquia Creek sandstone

The Aquia Creek sandstone was quarried from the late 1700s to the early
1800s in Stafford County, Virginia, at a site about 40 miles south of Washington,
D.C., where Aquia Creek joins the Potomac. The sandstone was used for many of the
early Federal buildings, most notably the White House and the center portion of the
U.S. Capitol building. The Aquia Creek sandstone is described in some detail by
Withington (1975). McGee and Woodruff (18992) also describe characteristics of the
stone and discuss some of the typical weathering features that it exhibits.

Characteristics: The sandstone is light gray to buff in color and it is mostly
composed of quartz (Si0,) with some potassium feldspar (KAISi,Og4) and clays. The
cement that holds the quartz (sand) grains together is a silica composition cement,
thus it is more resistant to the effects of acid precipitation than a sandstone that
contains carbonate cement. Stone from the Aquia Creek quarry was not entirely
homogeneous. Some of it was strong and of good quality, but some of the Aquia
Creek stone taken from the quarry was of such poor quality that its use as a building
material was discontinued in the late 1830s. Most of the sand grains in the stone are
equally sized (averaging about 0.5 mm in diameter), but in some layers of the stone
rounded pebble inclusions may be 1 to 3 cm in diameter. Pockets of clay have also
been mentioned in the literature describing this Aquia Creek stone.

Weathering: Some typical weathering features of this sandstone include pock
marks (rounded holes) where the pebble inclusions have come out, accentuated layers
(slightly harder lineations of red-orange grains), and spalling of portions of the stone.
The spalling occurs because the clay in the stone expands when it gets wet and
causes layers of the stone near a clay concentration to be gradually pushed outward
until the layer breaks off. Hard black surficial crusts are another typical weathering
feature that may develop on the stone in areas where there is air pollution. These
crusts are amorphous on a microscopic scale and they probably form as a reaction
between the stone, dirt, and air pollutants. The crusts may pose a problem for
preservation because if they adhere tightly to the stone surface they may be difficult
to remove without damaging the stone underneath.

Preservation / Treatment

Before any preservation or treatment effort is made on the boundary stones, it
is important to identify and evaluate the problems of stone deterioration that need to
be addressed. Such an evaluation will help guide the selection of an appropriate
treatment that takes into consideration the stone characteristics, the deterioration
problems, and the exposure of the stone to weather and poliution. Three main
categories of treatment are likely to be considered: cleaning, chemical consolidation,
and repair or replacement of the stone.

Cleaning: Stone surfaces may be washed, preferably by the gentlest means
possible, such as water alone, to remove accumulated dirt, grime, and crusts. Care
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needs to be taken to chose a method that will preserve the stone surface and its
markings.

Chemical consolidation: Loose, granulated surfaces can be bound or protected
by surface coatings or by injecting an organic or organic-inorganic complex into the
pore spaces of the stone. This type of treatment may pose several dangers to the
stone in that the consolidant may not bind well with the stone, or if not carefully
selected for the stone, the treatment may accelerate damage to the stone. However,
some Europeans working in stone preservation have reported successes on
sandstones using alkoxysilanes.

Repair or replacement: Where larger pieces of stone are missing or loosened
and may come off, the stone can be repaired with epoxy or with a combination of
pinning and epoxy. Replacement stone, if necessary, should be as similar to the
original as possible. :

It is likely that not all of the stones will require the same treatments, and it is
possible that some stones may presently need no treatment. Any information th:at is
known about previous treatments to the stone will be valuable when the condition of
the stones is evaluated and may affect the treatment decisions that are made.
Another important component of a preservation program should be to consider
monitoring the condition of the stones and developing a maintenance plan for them.

The National Park Service (NPS) provides guidelines for preservation of historic
structures through their Preservation Assistance Division (located at 800 North Capital
St, Washington, D.C.) and through published guidelines (Preservation Assistance
Division, 1989; U.S. Department of Interior, 1992). The NPS policy for preservation
emphasizes the historic value of the material and architectural features and
recommends repair rather than replacement if possible. NPS policy also recommends
that any surface cieaning should be done by the gentlest means possible.

Features of the Boundary Markers

Two sizes of stones were used for the original markers: the corner stones were
specified to be five feet long and one foot square and the markers, that were placed
at one mile intervals, were four feet long and one foot square (Terman and Terman,
1972). The markers and corner stones were placed so that two feet of the stone was
buried and the remaining two (or three) feet was above ground. The buried portion
of the stone was roughly hewn. The portion of the marker or corner stone above
ground had a sawn finish and the top was cut with a bevel edge. A standard
inscription (National Capital Planning Commission, 1976) was placed on each of the
four sides (Fig. 1) of the marker; the cornerstone inscriptions differed from the mile
marker inscriptions (Terman and Terman, 1972). The Virginia boundary markers were
placed in 1791. A photographic record was made of the boundary stones in 1908
(Woodward), and between 1915 and 1920 various chapters of the Daughters of the
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American Revolution restored and fenced most of the boundary stones (Terman and
Terman, 1872). In 1952 Arlington County appropriated money to have the 10 stones
on its borders coated with a preservative called "Weatherlox™ (Terman and Terman,
1972).

There are fourteen boundary markers in Virginia. Two of these are
cornerstones. The South Cornerstone (the first stone in Virginia) is located at Jones
Point in Alexandria and the West Cornerstone is located in Falis Church. The
remaining markers are numbered consecutively along the sides of the square formed
by lines between the cornerstones and thev are designated by the compass direction
for the side of the square. Thus, markers located between the South and West
Cornerstones are designated as "Southwest #" with # being a number from 1-9;
markers between the West Cornerstone and the North Cornerstone are designated as
"Northwest #". Along the northwest side of the original boundary, only markers
numbered 1-3 are located in Virginia.

Current Condition of the Boundary Markers

On our trip to examine the boundary markers, we saw 13 of the 14 markers
that are located in Virginia. We photographed, measured, recorded the legible
portions of the inscriptions, and visually examined the stones. The fences that
surround the markers make it difficult to examine details on the stones very closely.
We did not take samples from any parts of the stones.

The boundary markers appear to have been made of some of the best quality
and strongest stone from the Aquia Creek quarry. They are solid and mostly intact;
some have minor pebble inclusions, but pockets of clay that were such a problem for
the Aquia Creek stone at other sites are not present in the boundary markers that we
observed. Missing chips, rounded edges, and missing corners and portions of the top
or sides are typical deterioration features on the stones. Cracks are present in some
of the stones, but they are not particularly severe or common. Many portions of the
inscriptions are still legibie; where the face of the stone is mostly intact, the letters
of the inscription are still quite crisp. Darkening of the surfaces of the stones is fairly
common and seems to be especially prominent on broken, uneven surfaces. Organic
growth, such as moss, algae, or fungus is present on many stones, as are paint drips
that probably resulted from maintenance work on the fences that surround the
markers.

The following notes summarize some of the observations made about the
characteristic features and current condition of each of the boundary stones. Features
that might be relevant to future preservation of the markers were noted in particular.

South Cornerstone: This stone is located in a small concrete enclosure that
is part of a seawall constructed at the Jones Point Lighthouse. The marker is visible
from the river bank, but it is not accessible at high tide. Most of the original surfaces
of the stone are missing, the edges are so rounded and pitted that it is difficult to
discern the original shape and size of the stone. The lower portion of the stone has



been undercut compared to the upper portion. Although most portions of the
inscription are gone, some letters are still visible and they appear to have some sharp
edges. The stone has some algae or other organic growth on the surfaces.

Southwest 1: The overall shape of this stone is still intact. Most of the
surfaces are blackened and there is some organic growth on chipped portions of the
surface. Pitting and missing chips are concentrated on the edges and there is a small
vertical crack that cuts across the top and at least one side of the stone. The
inscriptions are somewhat obscured by the surficial coating, but the edges of the
inscriptions are still crisp.

Southwest 2: This stone appears very different in size, shape, and surface
finish compared to the other boundary markers. Itis most likely not an original stone.
(Moore and Jackson (1978) note that the Southwest 2 marker is one of the two
markers that have been lost from the original 40.) The stone appears to be a
sandstone, but close examination of the stone is hindered by the surrounding fence,
and surficial blackening makes it difficult to see texture and grains in the stone. There
are many slightly elongated grooves on the vertical faces of the stone that resembile
pitting but may be a tooling mark finish that was applied to the stone. Closer
examination of this stone might be necessary to determine if it is sandstone from the
Aquia Creek quarry and to determine if the irregular surfaces on the faces of the stone
are weathering features or applied features.

Southwest 3: Most of the edges on this stone are rounded and pitted. Two
of the four vertical edges are worn or broken off and the other two edges are only
partly remaining. A few areas of the stone surface are blackened, mostly on the
rounded top and in the pitted and broken areas. There are drips of paint and possibly
primer on the stone. Only in the broken areas is the graininess of the sandstone
apparent; on the original vertical faces the inscriptions are distinct and the stone
surface appears to retain a smooth finish.

Southwest 4: All that remains of this marker is a rounded stub with no
apparent original surfaces. The stone may be a sandstone, but it is difficuit to be sure
because the pitted surface is aimost completely covered with a light colored coating
that looks like paint.

Southwest 5: The size and shape of this stone is not like the other markers.
The stone appears to be a sandstone. It resembles the Aquia Creek stone in color, in
texture, and in some of the slight pitting that is visible. There are no visible
inscriptions. The surfaces of the stone appear to be siightly rougher than the finished
surfaces on the carved boundary markers. There is some organic growth like moss
or algae on parts of the stone surface.

Southwest 6: This stone has several large patches and crack repairs that were
poorly done. The edges and top surfaces of the stone are rounded, pitted, and
blackened while the vertical faces retain much of the original finish and inscriptions.
Some of the faces have rounded indentations like pock marks that are slightly
blackened compared to the rest of the face.

Southwest 7: The top and edges of this stone are rounded but most of the
vertical faces of the stone are reiatively intact. The stone-is blackened where it is



rounded and broken; the intact vertical faces remain light in color and portions of the
inscription are still quite visible. There is a large spot 0f white paint near the top of
one of the broken, rounded sides of the stone.

Southwest 8: About 6-8 inches of the unfinished base of this marker is
exposed. The top and edges of the marker are rounded, pitted, and chipped and the
uneven surfaces are blackened. Some portions of the original vertical faces are intact,
retain a light color and smooth surface finish and still have readily visible inscriptions.
Pock mark indentations are common on both broken and finished surfaces, and pebble
inclusions are visible in some broken areas of the stone. .

Southwest 9: Only a portion (perhaps half, but it is uneven) of the original 2
feet of this stone is exposed. The original smooth surface finish of the faces and part
of the top of the stone is preserved. The inscriptions are very crisp. There are no
blackened areas on the surface of this stone but there are some lichens and moss or
algae present.

West Cornerstone: A large portion comprising one corner and most of two
sides is missing on this marker. Also, although this marker is a cornerstone, its size
is like one of the mile marker stones. The vertical and top edges are slightly rounded
and have some pitted indentations. The inscriptions are still crisp where the vertical
faces are intact. There is little surficial blackening on this stone, although there are
organic accumulations on some of the broken surfaces.

Northwest 1: A portion of one side and much of the top part are missing on
this marker. The vertical edges are worn and broken but three of the faces of the
stone are nearly intact, with crisp inscriptions. The stone is slightly blackened on the
broken areas; it has some lichen (and possibly algae or moss) growths and a few
drops of paint on some surfaces. There are some carved letters on one face of the
stone that are not part of the original inscription. Part of the unfinished base is
exposed.

Northwest 2: The top of this marker is rounded, the edges are also rounded
with indented pits on the edges and faces. One face of the stone is in good
condition, with the inscription clearly visible; the other faces are pitted and somewnhat
broken. Blackening of the stone surface is concentrated on the broken areas; there
are growths of moss or lichens on some surfaces too.

Northwest 3: We did not examine this stone because it is located on private
property in a fenced yard. The owners of the property were not at home, so we were
not able to ask permission to see the stone.

Although all of the stones appear to be solid, there is a range to their condition
that probably reflects the amount and type of care that each marker has received.
The most common feature of deterioration is rounding of the top and broken or pitted
vertical edges. Curiously many of the faces seem to be at least in partially good
condition; where the stone has not been broken, the inscriptions remain quite visible.
There is a range in the surface coloration of the stones, particularly on the finished
faces compared to any broken or rough surfaces. Some of the range of color may be
due to natural variations in the color of the stone, but some of the marker faces (for



example on Southwest 6) appear unusually yellow. It is possible that the
“"Weatheriox" that was applied to some of the markers in the 1950s has contributed
to the variations in the color that we see now.

Pitting or slight pock mark indentations are much more common on the markers
than are cracks or surficial discoloration. The pits may come from loss of pebbie
inclusions that were an original part of the stone. However, pebble inclusions are not
a frequent feature on the stones, perhaps because the ones closest to the stone
surface have already disappeared as the stones weathered.

There is organic growth such as moss, lichen, and algae on many of the
markers, but most of the growths are on broken or rough areas of the stone surface.
Plant growth can contribute to stone deterioration, but this sandstone is likely to be
resistant to deterioration from organic acids that plants produce as a product of their
growth.

Overall, the stones do not appear to be weathering at a very fast rate. The
surfaces do not feel grainy and crumble as you would expect if the surface was
severely deteriorating. Where the stone surface is rough, the blackened coating does
not appear to be contributing to disaggregation of the stone. Cracks are rare, and
based on the general appearance of the stones and the cracks, the ones we saw may
have been there for a long time. Although small and large pieces of the markers were
missing in many places, loose pieces or crumbling stone is not evident on any of the
markers. There is some evidence that a lack of maintenance has contributed to
problems for the stones, such as paint drips (several stones: SW-3,4, and NW-1),
marks from recent vandalism (SW-7), and poorly done repairs (SW-6).

Recommendations

The following recommendations should be considered as the Northern Virginia
Boundary Stones Committee begins to evaluate various preservation actions to take
for the Federal District Boundary Stones.

e Examine the stones and document their current condition. Evaluate their
condition and the rate of changes by referring to earlier documentation that is
available about the condition of the stones. Comparison and examination of
photographs, such as those taken by committee members, Woodward (1308), and the
Daughters of the American Revolution can help you identify large physical changes
in the stones. Key elements to look for are: Were cracks or missing pieces that are
visible now, present earlier? Can you track changes in any cracks? Can you see
variations in the stone faces that occur with time?

e Ensure that the markers are protected when maintenance work is done
nearby. Some particular concerns are: protecting the stones from paint and primer
when the fences that surround them are maintained, protecting the stones from lawn
maintenance, and protecting the stones if road or utility improvements are made
nearby.
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The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for
Rehabilitation’ and Guidelines for
Rebabilitating Historic Buildings® --

‘Rehabilitation means the process of returning a
property to a state of utility, through repair or alter-
ation, which makes possible an efficient contempor-
ary use while preserving those portions and features
of the property which are significant to its historic,
architectural, and cultural values.’

The following 'Standards for Rehabilitation’ shall
be used by the Secretary of the Interior when deter-
mining if a rehabilitation project qualifies as ‘certified
rehabilitation’ pursuant to the Tax Reform Act of 1976
and the Revenue Act of 1978. These standards are a
section of the Secrerary's ‘Standards for Historic
Preservation Projects’ and appear in Title 36 of the
Code of Federal Regulations, Part 1208 (formerly 36
CFR Part 67).

1. Every reasonable effort shall be made to provide a
compatible use for a property which requires
minimal alteration of the building, structure, or site
and its environment, or to use a property for its
originally intended purpose.

2. The distinguishing original qualities or character
of a building, structure, or site and its environment
shall not be destroyed. The removal or alteration of
any historic material or distinctive architecrural
features should be avoided when possible.

3. All buildings, structures, and sites shall be recog-
nized as products of their own time. Alterations that
have no historical basis and which seek to create an
earlier appearance shall be discouraged.

4. Changes which may have taken place in the
course of time are evidence of the history and
development of a building, structure, or site and its
environment. These changes may have acquired

*Bv countesy of the US. Department of the Interior, Heritage
Conservation and Recreation Service, Washington D.C. 20243
(January 1980 rev.).

significance in their own right, and this signiﬁcance_]
shall be recognized and respected.

5. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled
craftsmanship which characterize a building,
structure, or site shall be treated with sensitivity.

6. Deteriorated architectural features shall be
repaired rather than replaced, wherever possible. In
the event replacement is necessary, the new material
should match the material being replaced in
composition, design, color, texture, and other visual
qualities. Repair or replacement of missing architec-
tural features should be based on accurate dupli-
cations of fearures, substantiated by historic, physical,
or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural
designs or the availability of different architecrural
elements from other buildings or structures.

7. The surface cleaning of structures shall be under-]
taken with the gentlest means possible. Sandblasting
and other cleaning methods that will damage the
historic building materials shall not be undertaken.

8. Every reasonable effort shall be made to protect
and preserve archeological resources affected by, or
adjacent to any project.

9. Contemporary design for alterations and

._ additions to existing properties shall not be dis-

couraged when such alterations and additions do not
destroy significant historical, architectural or cultural
material, and such design is compatible with the size,
scale, color, material, and character of the property,
neighborhood or environment.

10. Wherever possible, new additions or alterations -
to structures shall be done in such a manner thar if
such additions or alterations were to be removed in
the future, the essential form and integrity of the
structure would be unimpaired.
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Preservation Assistance Division Documents

The documents received from the NPS Preservation Assistance
Division have been reviewed. Those that will provide some
insight, information or concerns that we may need to address are
listed below. They fall into six categories: general information
on sandstone; preservation problems and treatments; substitute
materials; cleaning; waterproof coatings and grants.

General information on sandstone:
"Maintenance and Repair of Architectural Sandstone'" by
Michael Lynch and William Higgins

Preservation Problems and Treatments:
WA Glossary of Historic Masonry Deterioration Problems and
Preservation Treatments" compiled by Anne E. Grimmer

Substitute Materials
"pPreservation Briefs 16: The Use of Substitute Materials on
Historic Building Exteriors" by Sharon C. Park

Preservation Tech Notes, Masonry Number 1. "Substitute
Materials: Replacing Deteriorated Serpentine Stone with Pre-
Cast Concrete" by Robert Powers.

Most of the article does not apply. However, there is
a portion of page 2, column 2, subtitle "Solution" that
addresses considerations when thinking of using a
substitute material.

Cleaning:
"Preservation Briefs 1: The Cleaning and Waterproof coating
of Masonry Buildings" by Robert Mack

"pPreservation Briefs 6: Dangers of Abrasive Cleaning to
Historic Buildings" by Anne Grimmer

"pPreservation Tech Notes, Masonry Number 3: Water Soak
Cleaning of Limestone" by Robert Powers.

Although not exactly on point as it concerns a
limestone building, it does contain an excellent
description of the water soak method of cleaning
masonry.

Waterproof coatings:

"Preservation Briefs 1: The Cleaning and Waterproof coating
of Masonry Buildings" by Robert Mack

Grants:
Historic Preservation Fund Grants-in-Aid Factsheet

-submitted by Phyllis Wolfteich



United States Department of the Interior M3

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE 8

P.O. Box 87127
Washington, D.C. 20018-7127

HISTORIC PRESERVATION FUND
GRANTS-IN-AID
FACTSHEET

The National Historic Preservation Act authorizes the Secretary of the Interior to grant
funds to the States and Territories and the National Trust for Historic Preservation for
the purposes of preparing comprehensive statewide historic surveys and plans, and for
preserving and protecting properties listed in the National Register of Historic Places.
Funds may be provided by the States for subgrants to private organizations, individuals,
or governmental subdivisions for purposes specified in the Act. Enclosed is a leaflet
that explains the National Register program in more detail.

In each State, the selection of preservation activities for financial assistance is
determined by the State Historic Preservation Officer, appointed by the Governor.

The Historic Preservation Officer should be contacted regarding the National Register
nomination process, the State's application procedures, and Federal and State
requirements for grants. It should be noted that the portion a State receives of the $31
million appropriated in fiscal year 1994 allows very little, if any, money for subgrant
projects and not every State may be able to respond to such requests. ‘The Historic
Preservation Fund grants may be used to assist the costs of architectural plans and
specifications, historic structure reports and engineering studies which are necessary to
restore properties listed on the National Register of Historic Places, and the costs of
acquiring or restoring historic properties. No funding for historic preservation loans, or
for direct grants, has been appropriated.

State Historic Preservation Officers also make recommendations to the National Park
Service on the certification of work done with nonfederal funds to rehabilitate historic
commercial properties for tax benefits under Section 48(g) and 170(h) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986. These benefits include an investment tax credit for the
rehabilitation of historic commercial, industrial, and rental residential buildings. We
have enclosed a leaflet explaining these preservation tax incentives.

Enclosures
wp/factsheet.94
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Attachment 22

P.O. BOX 220429

LONG FENCE Chantilly, VA 22022-0429

(703) 471-0960

Fax (703) 478-3545
PACSIMILE COVERSHEET

DATE ; ‘r‘l //a?;/c?s' NUMBER OF PAGES: /

Please deliver the following to:

rrom: _Jaed [osl
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If there are anv problems recieving this document(s), please call
(708) 471-0960.
Our fax number is (703) 478-3545

Paul . Rose, Jr, [/
Virginia Division Commercial Manager
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THE BOUNDARY STONES:

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA BOUNDARY
BICENTENNIAL COMMITTEE

" P. 0. Bax 9300
Silver Spring Maryland 20906

PE PROJE 3

The American Congress on Sur-
veying and Mapping

The National Society of Profession-
al Surveyors

The American Association for
Geodetic Surveying

The Surveyors Historical Society

The Maryland Society of Surveyors

The Virginia Association of Sur-
veyors

The Potomac Chapter of the Mar-
yland Society of Surveyors

The Mount Vemon Chapter of the
Virginia Association of Surveyors

The original boundaries of the Federal Teritory were marked with
forty stones set at one mile intervals. Fourteen of the monuments
were placed along Virginia's new border during 1791 and twenty-six
upon Maryland's in the following year.

The boundary stones were approximately one foot square with
beveled tops and set to protrude two feet above the ground. They
were made of brown sandstone from quarries leased by the Federal
Government at Acquia Creek in Stafford County, Va. Inscriptions
on the stones include the year set, magnetic variation at that place
and time, distance from the previous comer, and the name of the
territory and adjoining State on the appropriate face. Each stone is
identified based upon its location. The comners are called the North,
East, South and West points. Intermediate stones along each side
of the boundary are numbered clockwise from the previous comner.

The four faces of a Maryland corner stone are diagramed above.



THE COMMITTEE;

I'he District of Columbia Boundary Bicentennial Committee was
formed to plan events and activities to commemorate the 200th
Anniversary of the survey establishing the boundaries of our nation's
capital. The committee, representing the professional organizations

listed in this brochure, is comprised of volunteers employed in both
the private and public sectors.

MI B VES:
Plan a re-enactment survey and dedication ceremony.
Recover the remaining boundary stone monuments.
Locate the stones by a Global Positioning System
(GPS) survey.

4. Repair or restore many of the protective iron
cages placed around the stones by the
Daughters of the American Revolution.

5. Publish the GPS results and a history NW4 g
of the original survey.

oo~

Nw3g’

CELEBRATION; Wt
A re-enactment survey and dedi- WEST o<
cation ceremony are planned to POIRTNGR T
take place at the initial or south swe'a Géf'P

. . N reute 71/ -
point of the survey. The celebration, swie— % %
co-sponsored by the Office of Historic SW6'a, 3
Alexandnia, is scheduled for Sunday, March swsw_ 7
24, 1991 at Jones' Point Park in Alexandria, SW4S,

Virginia.  This event will coincide with the
American Congress on Surveying and Mapping's

50th Anniversary celebration during the ACSM-
ASPRS/Auto Carto 10 Annual Convention and Expo-
sition being held, March 24-29, 1991 in nearby
Baltimore, Maryland.

PR FUNDING:

A budget of $90,000 has been established to complete the committee’s
objectives.  Funding for the project is solely dependent upon
donations. Anyone interested in supporting this historic event should
send their cortributions to the District of Columbia Boundary
Bicentennial Committee, P.O. Box 9300, Silver Spring, Maryland
20906. Commemorative souvenirs are offered to those who donate
certain amounts to this endeavor. Contact the committee for details.

H DE ‘ERRITORY;
The Residence Act of July, 1790 authorized the establishment of a
permanent seat for the United States Govermment to be located on
the Potomac River. Both Marylund and Virginia had agreed to cede
a portion of their lands to the federal government for this purpose.
The act assigned the responsibility of selecting a specific ten mile
square site to President George Washington. After touring the area
of the nver, he recommended to include land on both sides of
the Potomac encompassing Georgetown in Maryland and to
extend to the Eastern Branch (now known as the Anacostia
River). In March of 1791, Congress adopted Washington's

suggestions which were amended to also include the City
of Alexandria in Virginia.

THE SURVEY;
After the site had been selected, Secretary of
State Thomas Jefferson sent a letter in
February of 1791 to Major Andrew
Ellicott, a surveyor in Philadelphia,
DNE 9 Pennsylvania, requesting that he
s EAST " begin a survey of the Federal
¢S Territory at once.  Benjamin
Banneker, a free black astronomer
from Ellicott Mills, Maryland was
selected to assist in making celestial
observations. The survey was begun,
February 12, 1791 at the south point of the

ten mile square on Jones' Point near Alexandria,
Virginia.

TH R IFI i

The following is a portion of the certificate Major Ellicott
issued, January 1, 1793 upon completing the survey:

"..These lines are opened, and cleared forty feet wide, that is
twenty feet on each side of the lines limiting the territory: And in
order to perpetuate the work, I have sct up squared mile stones,
marked progressively with the number of miles from the beginning on
Jones' Point, to the West corner, thence from the West comer to the
North comer...to the East comer and from thence to the place of
beginning on Jones' Point: except in a few cases where the miles
terminated on declivities...the stones are placed on the first firm
ground, and their true distances in miles and poles marked on them...”



Altachment 24

SUGGESTED SIGNS FOR WEST CORNERSTONE PARK

1. Suggested sign (metal or painted wood) that is applicable to all 40
boundary stone sites: .

ORIGINAL D.C. BOUNDARY STONES

This stone is one of 40 milestones erected in 1791-92 along the original
boundary line of the 10-mile square territory selected as the permanent site
of the Federal Government. These stones are the first historic monuments of
the District of Columbia. Such a territory was specified in the Constitution
in 1787, and the necessary land was ceded by Maryland in 1788 and Virginia in
1789. The authorization was given by Congress in 1790, and the specific area
was chosen by President Washington in 1791. The line was surveyed and the
stones were erected under the supervision of Major Andrew Ellicott. The
Virginia part of the District of Columbia and its 14 stones were retroceded to
the State by Congress in 1846.

2. Suggested sign (metal or pained wood) that is applicable only to
this specific boundary stone site:

WEST CORNERSTONE

This stone was erected in 1791 to mark the west corner of the
10-mile square Federal District. The Falls Church Chapter of the Daughters
of the American Revolution erected the protective fence in 1952. Arlington
County, the City of Falls Church, and Fairfax County established the
surrounding park in 1956. The white blocks marking the original boundary line
were added during the renovation of the park by the City of Falls Church and
Boy Scouts of America Troop 186 in 1971. The DAR fence was refurbished and
rededicated in 1989. The stone was placed on the National Register of
Historic Places February 1, 1991, and commemorated by the DAR on May 25, 1991.
<The cornerstone originally appeared as follows:

View of the four sides: Top view:

—_———>7

Scale 1120
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